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Former internationals Trevor Lloyd, Alan ‘Algy’ Thomas, Terry
Cook, Graham Powell, Grahame Hodgson and Emlyn Davies
have passed away during the last 12 months – each will be
sadly missed.

During the last few weeks former vice-chairman and IRB
member Les Williams also passed away.  Les was instrumental
in altering the governance of the WRU in the early 1990s and
his contribution to Welsh rugby was significant.

I’d like to thank Humphrey Evans, Russell Howell, Mal Beynon
and Ken for their contributions over many years during their
terms of office and welcome Rob Butcher, Gwyn Bowden, Ian
Jeffrey and Bryn Parker who are the new members on the
Board.

Finally I would like to thank the Executive Board of the WRU
and all of its hard working staff, those who work tirelessly in

the regional and club game throughout the country not least
the players, volunteers, coaches, administrators and the
supporters who allow rugby to thrive at all levels.  

I thank everyone for their contributions to our national game
over the past year and offer my very best wishes for the
forthcoming season.

Yours in rugby

Dennis Gethin
President
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

It has once again been an interesting year in Welsh rugby, with
eight Rugby World Cup matches hosted at Principality
Stadium, an impressive showing from the national side, much
to enjoy on the pitch and some significant new appointments
at the WRU.

We have welcomed Ryan Jones, Geraint John and Mark
Killingley to the Executive Board and I would also like to formally
extend my gratitude to our Group Chief Executive, Martyn
Phillips, for all that has been achieved thus far in his period of
office, since taking up his position in November last year.

Martyn has formalised the strategy for the future of our
national game. It is a strategy which I know has been
thoroughly researched, reviewed and fine-tuned over the last
10 months and it augurs well for the future.

I would also like to formally thank our Chairman, Gareth
Davies, for his leadership over the previous season and for his
dedication, hard work and endeavour in our efforts to
modernise and improve the way we operate both at Board
level and beyond in the best interests of our national game.

As I have said many times, the clubs are the heart and soul of
Welsh rugby and it is vital that everything possible is done to
ensure that the game flourishes at the grass roots level.

It is an honour to hold the position of Chairman of the Welsh
Rugby Charitable Trust (“WRCT”). The sole purpose of the
WRCT is to try to enhance the quality of life of those players
and their families who have been affected by catastrophic
injury in relation to their time in the game. I would like to
thank those at the WRU and all those clubs and organisations
who give their financial support to this most worthwhile
cause. There have been many fundraising initiatives emanating
from the WRU and clubs alike, this season alone, which have
made invaluable contributions to the WRCT. It would take too
long to name the individual contributors here but suffice to
say you are each offered a message of sincere gratitude by the
organisation and, I’m sure, each of its beneficiaries.

We mourn the passing of our former vice-chairman Ken
Hewitt and thank him for his huge contribution to Welsh
rugby.

Dennis Gethin
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coaching and playing styles, player welfare and in exchanging
ideas, as well as continuing to further develop our hugely
positive relationship off it.

These too are exciting times for the Principality Premiership,
with a new structure in place for the year ahead and all to play
for.  

We directly invested £5.9m, an increase of £0.5m, in
Premiership clubs and the community game and, with all
money earned being re-invested into the game, we retained
a profit after tax of just £0.1m.

Following a comprehensive review of the women’s game in
Wales, we’ve also made some changes to make rugby more
appealing for girls. Girls will be able to play girls-only mini and
junior rugby in schools and in their communities in a format
that suits the way they want to play.

We must also thank our broadcasting partners, in particular
the BBC and S4C, and all of our commercial partners, the
Welsh local authorities and the Welsh Government. We could
not have achieved all that we have without the continued
support of these key groups and we offer them full
acknowledgement of that support. 

I welcome new Board members Gwyn Bowden, Bryn Parker,
Ian Jeffrey and Rob Butcher, who began new terms last year
and look forward to more insight and inspiration from the
fifteen members of our newly elected Youth Board, as it enters
its second season of office.

Finally I also want to sincerely thank my colleagues on the
Board, the Executive Board and all the staff of the Group
alongside everyone involved in our game, both on and off the
field, from grass roots to the elite end of the game. 

My very best wishes to everyone for the season ahead.

Gareth Davies
Chairman
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited

Last summer Wales toured New Zealand and played three Test
matches against the reigning Rugby World Cup Champions.
The record books will show that we returned from our visit to
the Southern Hemisphere superpowers seemingly empty
handed, with an elusive win over the All Blacks on home soil
still to be achieved. 

But the win/loss column of this particular campaign of course
doesn’t tell the whole story.  

On the pitch Warren Gatland’s side made significant strides
forward, scoring more tries on New Zealand soil than
predecessors and remaining within sight of victory for the
duration of at least two of the three matches. 

Off the pitch the Group Chief Executive, Martyn Phillips, and
I  were determined to learn from our Kiwi counterparts.

We engaged in a healthy exchange of ideas on every subject
from governance and season structure to the long term future
of the game, player retention and welfare, coaching and
pathways and the business of sport. 

A focus on core skills, alignment with our Regions and clubs,
leadership and governance and player development structures
are some of the key areas where our two nations share

ambitions and the fruits of our discussions will be borne in the
months ahead as the Group’s strategy for the future of the
game beds in. 

Another impressive set of financial results sees the net bank
debt reduced to £11.0m, turnover increased from £64.8m to
£73.3m and total investment in Welsh rugby up from £29.7m
to £33.1m. 

This season we have also welcomed Principality Building
Society as title sponsor to our national ground – Principality
Stadium. 

We hosted eight matches as part of the Rugby World Cup
2015 tournament and watched Wales once again do the
country proud by reaching the quarter-finals of the
competition, although the squad continually strive for more. 

Judgement Day was once again a resounding success and, as
we look to grow the event and ensure a 74,500 capacity
occasion each year for the annual regional rugby double
header at Principality Stadium, the event has become a
symbolic day for the WRU and the Regions. 

Our coaches share a collective aim for success on the pitch
and we are working together more than ever in terms of

Gareth Davies
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We also know that for some it’s all about winning. Winning
is at the heart of sport and we want to make it possible for
individuals and teams to win more often as a result of our
efforts. We also recognise the pride the nation feels when our
national teams win and we want to make that a regular reality.

We have six clear elements to our strategy:

1. Unity and alignment

Welsh rugby is aligned at all levels. We have a common
purpose, common goals, healthy relationships and structures
that underpin a successful rugby structure. There will be
disagreements, which we will resolve and then agree a
collective way forward. We will focus on solutions and the
future.

2. Player experience

We commit to support each player through all levels of the
game and beyond. As a consequence, our senior players
choose to stay in Wales, our teams ‘Win’ at every level and
we enrich the experience for those who play purely for
enjoyment.

3. Supporter experience 

We “connect” our fans to rugby like no other nation. We
leverage mainstream, social and digital media to enable daily
engagement right through to ensuring that our stadia and

grounds deliver an “exceptional supporter experience”. We
aspire to improve rugby as a product for supporters - we are
in the entertainment business.

4. Revenue up, cost down

More people come to support our teams, more often and as
a result the ‘best commercial partners’ aspire to work with
Welsh rugby. We drive cost synergies across all levels of rugby
in Wales. Consequently, we create more investment for the
game.

5. Our people

We have a no compromise approach to talent. We focus on
recruiting, developing, involving and igniting the talent in the
critical roles in Welsh rugby at all levels.

6. Beyond rugby

We have a responsibility beyond rugby to be role models to
make a positive difference to Welsh society and to help to
define Wales as nation. We understand what segments of the
population are looking for and physical activity grows as a
result. We partner with other Welsh sports to play our part in
making the nation proud.

Our strategy has been approved by the Board. We have
detailed plans in place, resources allocated and have prioritised
our available investment to begin execution. We have clear

This is my first opportunity to contribute to the Annual Report
of the Group and I wanted to start by thanking the Board for
the opportunity to undertake the role. This role is both a
privilege and a responsibility. I intend to serve all stakeholders
to the best of my ability and set out to lead the delivery of
short and long term success for the whole game in Wales.

Principally over the first 10 months in the role I have set out
to meet and listen to as broad a range of stakeholders as
possible. I have met countless people engaged in rugby -
supporters, players, coaches, medics, volunteers and
commercial partners. I have also consulted widely with other
rugby nations, Welsh Government, Sport Wales and with
leaders in other sports. Whilst opinions clearly vary greatly,
which is healthy, the thing that unites us is our love of the
game, the fact that to a degree rugby symbolises Wales and
that we care deeply about ensuring a sustainable future for
the game.

The purpose behind my desire to listen to a broad range of
stakeholders is to ensure that the strategy and plan we have
in place is one which we all feel we can buy into and that
many have had the opportunity to contribute to. What has
struck me is that there are natural competing tensions in our
game which we need to navigate. A key part of my role is to
ensure we have a healthy amateur and professional game, to
grow men and women’s rugby, a successful Wales team and
successful Regions, healthy adult and child participation levels,
deliver short and long term performance, grow 15-aside and
grow alternative forms of the game, ensure financial stability 

and invest in the future of the game, make the right decisions
whether they are popular or unpopular, honour our history
and recognise the game needs to reinvent to attract and retain
younger generations on and off the pitch. We won’t always
get it right but it’s important that we demonstrate that we
recognise these tensions and show a willingness to manage
them.

I am pleased to advise that as a result of our broad
consultation, supplemented by surveys and focus groups we
have a clear purpose and strategy in place for Welsh rugby. I
would like to highlight certain elements of our strategy here.

We have a clear purpose which is why we exist as an
organisation:

More people, more often, with more enjoyment and
more success

Our purpose is to make this possible and to encourage as
many people, whether they be volunteers, supporters, players,
coaches, referees, commercial partners, medics, the list goes
on, to engage with our game.

We also want key stakeholders to engage more often with the
game. Clearly game day is important but we want to be
‘always on’. We want clubs to be vibrant entities that enable
daily engagement and we want to use digital and social media
channels to connect 24/7.

We recognise that the majority engage with rugby for
enjoyment. We are aware that rugby is a social sport and the
club is often at the heart of the community. We want to be a
sport that enables enjoyment for all the family.

Martyn Phillips
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• To constantly review the National Leagues to ensure clubs
playing within the competitions in Wales have a consistent,
vibrant schedule of fixtures throughout the season  

• Renewed focus on Youth rugby, second team rugby, school
competitions and rugby festivals

• Execute our plan to be more bilingual in our communication

• Continue to address doping in rugby

New work for YE17

• Ensuring the Community Strategy led by Ryan Jones and
approved by the Board is executed – this is about amateur
rugby, about communities, about the clubs all over Wales
that are the lifeblood of our game

• Ensuring the committees and boards that govern our game
are representative,  understand the needs of diverse groups
that we are aiming to engage in rugby

• Additional focus and investment into coaching at all levels

• To drive and promote our strategy to have a vibrant club
base in communities throughout Wales through the launch
of the Welsh Rugby Standards

• Launching our digital strategy

• Extending the use of Principality Stadium to generate
additional revenue

• Working closely with other sports in Wales, Welsh
Government and Sport Wales to improve facilities and
contribute to the success of Wales as a sporting nation

• Make a contribution to Welsh society through using rugby
to promote physical activity

• Ensuring a successful UEFA Champions League Final at
Principality Stadium

• Relaunch the brand to establish Welsh rugby as a global
sporting brand and reflective of the vital role all levels of
rugby in Wales play in our success

• Mobilising our exiles rugby programme

The summaries above are not exhaustive but give a flavour of
our direction of travel.

Finally and importantly a comment on how we are setting out
to lead. We recognise that society has changed. Our
stakeholders are looking for inspiration, transparency, integrity,
involvement and empathy. We intend to ensure that we listen
hard to stakeholders’ opinions, we are agile, we have the
courage to make the bold decisions if it’s right for rugby and
to take a long term view to build a sustainable future.

We will never be the biggest nation but we can use our
passion for rugby and proximity to each other to our
advantage. I would urge all of us to some extent to let go of
the past and build an energising future together. Society and
the game are changing and we need to change with it. We
have undoubtedly made some mistakes in the past and will
undoubtedly make some in the future. My commitment to all
stakeholders is to focus on the solution, focus on the future
and do whatever it takes to ensure a proud future for rugby in
Wales. We believe in our strategy and we intend to execute it.

We have so many amazing individuals, teams, communities
and partnerships in Welsh rugby. We already have so much to
celebrate and we will. We will also have ambition, we will be
both optimistic and realistic and, above all, we will deliver our
purpose of ‘more people, more often, with more enjoyment
and more success’.

Finally, I would like to offer thanks for the support I have
received from Gareth Davies, members of the Board and
Executive Board and the warm welcome I have received in
professional and amateur clubs across Wales.

Martyn Phillips
Group Chief Executive

plans to put the systems and structures in place to deliver this
strategy.

Reflecting on YE16, it’s important to emphasise that we have
set out to build on what is working in Welsh rugby, improve
where required and commence work where there are gaps in
our strategy. 

Key successes in YE16 that we will build on:

• Approval of our long term purpose, values and strategy

• National team achieving a quarter-final appearance in the
Rugby World Cup (“RWC15”) and 2nd place in the Six
Nations

• All three Six Nations home games sold out for the first time
since 2008

• Successful delivery of eight RWC15 games with a positive
supporter experience

• Nigel Owens chosen to referee the RWC15 final

• Gareth Williams and Ritchie Pugh’s involvement as Team GB
Sevens coaches in the Rio Olympics 

• Jasmine Joyce, Sam Cross and James Davies selection for
Team GB Sevens in the Rio Olympics squad

• Close working relationship established with our Regions and
the Premiership

• Wales’ U20s achieving the Grand Slam and winning the U20
Six Nations competition

• Gaining additional focus on community rugby through Ryan
Jones’ appointment as Head of Rugby Participation and
appointing Geraint John as Head of Rugby Performance

with increased focus on professional rugby

• Promotion of Merthyr, Swansea, Bargoed and RGC 1404 to
the Principality Premiership

• Continued growth in rugby participation through the School
Club Hub programme

• Formation of Girls Cluster teams, scheduled in the summer
and driving rapid increases in girls’ participation

• Provision of significantly improved insurance provision for
clubs and players

• Renewal of partnership with Under Armour and a new
stadium naming partnership with Principality Building
Society

• A good financial performance with turnover increasing from
£64.8m to £73.3m, net bank debt reduced from £14.2m to
£11.0m with a retained profit after tax of £0.1m

• Total investment in Welsh rugby increasing from £29.7m to
£33.1m with a considered investment across all levels of the
game

• Full re-investment of profits into rugby 

Areas where we will focus in YE17 to get better:

• Closer working relationship between National, Regional and
National Age Group coaching teams

• Maximising our World Rugby rankings, with an ambition to
evolve our game and improve our record against southern
hemisphere sides for the men and perform to our potential
in the Six Nations and World Cup for the women

• Collaborating with Regions on and off the pitch to support
improved Regional performance in Pro12 and Europe

• Working with the Regions to increase attendances through
engaging with all clubs and supporters in their catchment
communities

• Focus on alternative forms of rugby, for example 7s, touch
and tag

• Increased investment and focus on 7s and women’s rugby,
principally through coaching support, leading to improved
performance on the pitch and greater participation

• Work closely with the Premiership and Championship clubs
to deliver a vibrant and competitive league and to ensure
these crucial elements of our rugby pyramid are thriving 

• To continue working with our clubs to provide and unlock
funding to upgrade facilities across the game, both on and
off the field
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Headlines of the financial performance – YE16 v YE15

Given the financial strategy changes outlined above, the
following demonstrate the resulting outcomes:

Note 2016 2015
£’m £’m

Turnover 1 73.3 64.8

Re-investment in the game 2 33.1 29.7

Retained profit for the year 3 0.1 12.1

Net bank debt 4 11.0 14.2

Note:

1. Significant increase in turnover

2. Strategic decision to increase re-investment in the game;
partly driven by increased turnover

3. Given the increased re-investment, less profit retained
by the Group; also, YE15 included c.£10.0m of
exceptional non-recurring income arising from the re-
financing in June 2015; and

4. Despite the increased re-investment, delivered
reductions in the Group’s net debt

Hospitality – Principality Stadium Experience (“MSEL”)

This is the first full year of trading of MSEL, with that company
having commenced trading part way through YE15. MSEL is
trading well and the key components and movements are
shown below.

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Hospitality and catering income 11.4 8.2

Hospitality and catering costs (6.0) (3.6)

Whilst very encouraging, given the increase in the hospitality
and catering income in relation to the Group’s overall income
and the corresponding increase in the hospitality and catering
costs to deliver this income, the Group’s EBITDA/Turnover will
consequently decrease with this increase in this business
segment and the Group will revisit and amend its target ratios
accordingly

Dynamics of the business

The activities, both operational and financial, of each company
in the Group are so intrinsically linked that there is little merit
in assessing individual performance. Whilst they are all
separate legal entities and are obliged to prepare separate

financial statements, it is the Group’s performance that is the
only meaningful measure.

The Group must deliver on its commercial activities to allow
re-investment in community rugby, professional rugby and
Principality Stadium.

Accordingly, the Group’s income generation is paramount to
delivering on its principal activity and primary objective. The
key economic income driver of the Group’s business is the
hosting of events at Principality Stadium; particularly, the
hosting of international rugby events featuring the Welsh
team and especially a winning Welsh team. The more matches
that are played, the greater the Group’s revenues that are
available for re-investment in Welsh rugby. The Group
welcomed 346,000 (2015: 395,000) rugby spectators to
Principality Stadium for the Dove Men Summer Series and the
RBS Six Nations Championship, analysed as follows: 

2016 2016 2015 2015
No. of ‘000 No. of ‘000
home home 

matches matches

Summer Series 2 126 - -

Autumn Series - - 4 247

Six Nations 3 220 2 148

5 346 6 395

The Group’s business and objectives

Group activities

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited’s (“Company”) purpose and
principal activity is to promote rugby to encourage more
people to engage with the game, more often, with more
enjoyment and more success.  The Company majority owns
Millennium Stadium plc (“MS”), WRU National Centre of
Excellence Ltd (“WRUNCE”), and WRU Supporters Club Ltd
(“WRUSC”). The Company also owns 83.5% of Millennium
Stadium Experience Limited (“MSEL”) and, given the control
exercised by the Company, MSEL is considered a subsidiary.
Collectively, the Company and these subsidiaries are referred
to as the Group. 

Key performance indicators (“KPIs”)

The KPIs of the Group are:

Participation in rugby

• Participation levels in Community Rugby, including men,
women and junior numbers

An analysis of the Group’s performance against these
measures is shown in the report from the Head of Rugby
Participation later in this report.

Rugby performance

• Success of the National Squads – Men, Women & 7s

• Performance of the four Welsh Regions

• Performance of the Group’s Age-Grade teams

An analysis of the Group’s performance against these
measures is shown in the reports from the National Head

Coach and the Head of Rugby Performance. 

Financial performance

• Generation of sufficient earnings before interest,
depreciation, amortisation, allocations and exceptional
items (“EBITDA”), over the medium term, to fulfil the
Group’s principal activity and primary objective

• Number of and attendances at international rugby
matches, featuring the National Squad, held at
Principality Stadium

• Provision of consistent and affordable levels of funding
to clubs and affiliated organisations to allow them to
implement long term plans to fulfil their objectives

An analysis of the Group’s performance against these financial
measures is shown below.

Financial strategy

As a result of the re-financing in June 2015, the net assets of
the Group significantly increased and the financial covenants
of the new arrangement were improved in favour of the
Group.  Consequently, given these changes, the Group has
now taken a strategic decision to seek to re-invest more into
the game rather than retaining any profits to enhance net
assets.

Steve Phillips
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The average attendance per match was 69,000 (2015:
66,000) and equated to an average of 93% (2015: 89%)
when expressed as a measure of capacity attendance.  

The primary reason that the overall attendance decreased in
2016 was due to playing five home fixtures compared to six
in 2015.

The average ticket income per attendee at matches held at
Principality Stadium in YE16 was £39 (2015: £47).

Commercial income and hospitality income are also critical to
the financial performance of the Group.

Within reason, the Group’s operational cost base is relatively
fixed; albeit there are incremental costs if more Group
controlled events are staged.  As a consequence, incremental
events should mean incremental profits which can be
reinvested into the game across all levels.

Financial Performance 

Overview of Performance 

The Group generates income from its international matches
(including sponsorship and broadcast rights) and incremental
revenue from the use of Principality Stadium. This income

meets the operating costs of the Group to allow the majority
of the surplus to be “invested” in “Welsh rugby”, as follows:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Group income 73.3 64.8

Business and administration (7.1) (6.7)

Hospitality and catering costs (6.0) (3.6)

Direct costs (16.8) (11.7)

Stadium costs (5.3) (5.4)

Surplus 38.1 37.4

As analysed later on page 15, the Group earned some £73.3m
(2015: £64.8m) predominantly from international rugby
matches staged at Principality Stadium. These matches
generated 39% (2015: 55%) of the Group’s overall income.  

Commercial income at £12.3m contributes 17% (2015: 16%)
of the Group’s overall income. Hospitality and catering income
(which included a full year’s trading in YE16) amounted to
£11.4m (2015: £8.2m), contributing 16% (2015: 13%) of
overall income. Hospitality and catering income includes the
gross value of food and beverage sales, together with
conference and banqueting income, as a result of the MSEL
operation. 

Competition income represents the income from competitions
including the Champions Cup, the Challenge Cup and the
Guinness Pro12 (see Note 2 for further details).

Other event income represents events staged at Principality
Stadium apart from rugby matches featuring the National

Squad - including, in the two years indicated above, music
concerts, motorsport and Rugby World Cup 2015 (“RWC15”)
matches.  

The remaining income arises from ancillary activities and
various grant sources, including £4.7m (2015: £nil) in respect
of a grant from the International Rugby Board Trust.

The business and administration costs represent the costs of
managing the Group; the direct costs represent the costs of
staging both international rugby matches and other events
held at Principality Stadium; the stadium costs represent the
costs of managing the stadium other than those directly
attributable to events.

The surplus of £38.1m (2015: £37.4m) made by the Group
which is invested in “Welsh rugby” can be analysed as follows:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Operational costs
- Elite rugby 4.3 4.3
- Community rugby 3.6 2.8

7.9 7.1

Allocations to affiliates 
- Regions (Professional) 19.3 17.2
- Clubs (Semi - professional) 1.6 1.4
- Community rugby 4.3 4.0

25.2 22.6

Total investment in “Welsh rugby” 33.1 29.7

The balance is analysed as follows:
Surplus 38.1 37.4
Total investment in “Welsh rugby” (33.1) (29.7)

5.0 7.7

Depreciation and amortisation 3.7 3.5
(net of grants)
Exceptional items (see Note 4) (0.2) (10.0)
Interest costs 0.9 1.3
Non-controlling interests 0.2 0.2
Tax charge 0.3 0.6
Transferred to reserves 0.1 12.1

5.0 7.7

The allocations to the four Regions have continued to increase
to £19.3m (2015: £17.2m) (including the competition income
referred to above). These allocations in YE16 cover all

international player release and provide financial support for
the four Regions in accordance with the Rugby Services
Agreement (“RSA”) signed in August 2014.

The allocation to the Group’s semi-professional league has
increased by 14% from the previous year and stands at
£1.6m. The allocations to the Group’s community clubs have
increased by £0.3m to £4.3m. The total investment in the
community game is:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Operational costs 3.6 2.8
Allocations 4.3 4.0

7.9 6.8

On a pre-exceptional basis, the Group generated an operating
profit of £1.3m (2015: £4.2m) from which net debt service of
£0.9m (2015: £1.3m) is deducted resulting in a profit before
exceptional items, non-controlling interests and tax of £0.4m
(2015: £2.9m). 

Revenues

Revenues are analysed as follows:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Match income 27.9 35.4
Competition income 9.7 8.1
Commercial income 12.3 10.4
Hospitality and catering income 11.4 8.2
Other event income 5.4 1.3
Other income 6.6 1.4

73.3 64.8

Match income decreased by £7.5m predominantly due to one
less home fixture, lower average ticket prices and reduced
broadcast income.

Commercial income increased by £1.9m to £12.3m, primarily
due to new sponsorship contracts and increased activity on
sale of merchandise. 

Other event income increased to £5.4m due to increased
events at Principality Stadium including the hosting of eight
RWC15 fixtures.

Operational costs

As shown in Note 2(b), the Group’s operational costs have
increased by some 25% to £43.1m. This overall increase is
largely due to the inclusion of a full year of all hospitality and
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catering costs, costs arising from participation in RWC15, costs
from the overseas tour to New Zealand and an increase in
Principality Stadium event delivery costs, as a result of hosting
RWC15 fixtures.

Business and administration costs have increased by 6% to
£7.1m due mainly to the full year of additional administration
costs associated with MSEL, including seconded staff,
marketing and equipment maintenance, rebranding project
and other inflationary increases.

Direct costs are costs incurred directly in relation to attaining
revenues and will include all National Squad costs and third
party costs incurred in delivering events at Principality Stadium.
These costs have increased by £5.1m mainly as a result of:

• an increase in event costs from hosting 8 games of RWC15

• an increase in National Squad costs arising from RWC15
training camps and the tour to New Zealand

• an increase in player costs of £2.5m

• an increase in sponsorship delivery costs associated with the
new sponsorship agreements; and

• an increase in the costs arising from increased activity on
merchandise sales 

The increase in the player costs above is driven by (i) the
participation in RWC15 in YE16 provides increased player
remuneration as compared to the Autumn Series in YE15, (ii)
an increased bonus payment as a result of a being placed
second in the Six Nations 2016 as compared to third in the Six

Nations 2015 and (iii) the costs of touring New Zealand as
there was no tour in YE15.

Hospitality and catering costs amount to £6.0m (2015:
£3.6m). These costs reflect a full year of the direct costs of
MSEL providing all hospitality and catering within Principality
Stadium. The increase year on year is due to YE16 being the
first full year year of trading, together with the increased
number of events in the year. 

The costs in respect of elite rugby have remained constant at
£4.3m and include managing the age-grade structures, the
national 7s sides, player development, referee costs, National
Centre of Excellence and insurance which collectively amount
to some 74% (2015: 72%) of the total with the balance of
the 26% (2015: 28%) comprising staff costs. 

The costs in respect of community rugby have increased by
27% to £3.6m. Community rugby costs include coach
development, referee costs, school club hub costs, digital
strategy investment and insurance which amount to some
58% (2015: 48%) of the total with the balance of the 42%
(2015: 52%) comprising staff costs. The increase in the year
is largely due to increased costs of player development
programmes and the digital strategy investment.  

Stadium costs have decreased by some £0.1m to £5.3m. In
the prior year there was additional investment in the stadium,
including refurbishment of the changing rooms and medical
facilities and the Group also incurred significant costs in
undertaking destructive testing on the masts, in line with the
scheduled maintenance programme. 

EBITDA and net result

One of the key measures of the Group is the earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation, exceptional items and
allocations to affiliates (“EBITDA”).  This is a key measure as it
is the best proxy for cash generated from the Group’s
operational activities. This provides the cash to fund the
Group’s primary objective.

The Group’s EBITDA was £30.2m (2015: £30.3m). The
Group’s pre-exceptional profit before tax and non-controlling
interests was £0.4m (2015: £2.9m); after exceptional items, a
profit before tax and non-controlling interests of £0.6m (2015:
£12.9m).  This can be analysed as follows:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Company 25.6 28.3
MSEL 3.9 3.1
WRUNCE (0.2) 0.2
WRUSC 0.1 0.1
MS 0.8 (1.4)
Group EBITDA 30.2 30.3

Allocations to affiliated organisations (25.2) (22.6)
Exceptional items 0.2 10.0
Depreciation and amortisation (3.7) (3.5)
(net of grant release)
Operating profit 1.5 14.2
Net interest (0.9) (1.3)
Profit before tax 0.6 12.9
Tax (0.3) (0.6)
Non-controlling interests (0.2) (0.2)
Retained profit 0.1 12.1

Net interest expense

The Group’s net interest expense is analysed as follows:  

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Bank interest payable and similar charges 0.7 0.8

Bank charges 0.2 0.5
0.9 1.3

The reduction in bank charges shown above is largely due to
the costs of refinancing incurred in the previous year. 

The Group has derivative instruments that hedge the majority
of the Group’s debt, as shown in note 15. These instruments
ensure that, for a proportion of the Group’s debt, the rate of

interest paid will be in a defined range. During the year the
Group replaced the previous cap and floor instrument with a
cap only instrument. Given that, up to the point of closure of
the cap and floor, the prevailing LIBOR rates were below the
floor of the derivative instruments, the £0.7m shown under
bank interest payable & similar above includes some £0.1m
(YE15: £0.2m) of interest cost arising from this derivative.

Exceptional items

During the current and previous year, the Group incurred
charges that due to their size and nature were considered
“exceptional”. The Group’s definition of exceptional items
includes the identification of significant non-recurring items
that enable the “normal” financial performance of the Group
to be better understood. As shown in Note 4, the exceptional
items in the current year arise from a rates rebate in respect
of the training facilities at the National Centre of Excellence
and some restructuring costs. The exceptional item in the
previous year arises from the release of the Tranche C debt in
exchange for one share in MS; this is a non-cash item.

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Restructuring costs (0.1) -
Business rates rebate 0.3 -
Release of Tranche C debt - 10.0
(as explained above)

0.2 10.0

Cashflow

The Group’s net cash inflows from operating activities were
as follows:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

EBITDA 30.2 30.3
Allocations to affiliated organisations (25.2) (22.6)
Exceptional items 0.2 -
Working capital movements 1.2 (1.5)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 6.4 6.2

From this amount in YE16, the Group paid net interest costs
of £0.8m, paid £0.7m in respect of fixed assets, received a
grant of £0.2m, repaid a grant of £0.1m, paid dividends to
non-controlling interests of £0.6m, made payments to replace
the derivative instruments of £0.4m and paid tax of £0.8m
leaving a net cash increase of £3.2m. 
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Net debt 

Net debt, which is defined as bank loans, debenture loans less
cash balances, as at 30 June 2016 was £48.6m (2015:
£51.8m).

Net bank debt, which is bank loans less cash balances, was
£11.0m (2015: £14.2m).

The net bank debt position of the Group is as follows:

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
£’m £’m

Loans:
Term loan 3.8 5.0
Regions loan 2.6 1.3
Revolving credit facility (“RCF”) 4.8 11.0

11.2 17.3
Cash (0.2) (3.1)
Net bank debt 11.0 14.2

The decrease in net bank debt during the year of £3.2m
includes a £1.2m reduction in the term loan, a £6.2m decrease
in the RCF, offset by the decrease in cash balances of £2.9m.
In addition, a further loan of £1.3m was provided to the
Regions during the year to further their ambitions in
conjunction with the RSA, taking the total amount advanced
to £2.6m. 

The RCF was £4.8m drawn as at 30 June 2016, £11.0m drawn
as at 30 June 2015 and had a maximum and minimum draw
of £13.5m and £1.5m respectively during the year. 

As set out in Note 14, as at 30 June 2016, the Group had
unutilised facilities of £15.2m (2015: £9.0m).

As part of the banking agreements the Group has to comply
with bank covenants which require the Group to, inter alia,
meet certain levels of cashflows and surpluses. This enforces
normal business practices on the Group, but limits the extent
to which the Group can invest, make allocations to affiliated
organisations and access the facilities above.

These bank covenants are typical of those applying to
commercial businesses. It is in the Group’s best interests to
comply with these covenants as a breach would be a default
of the loan agreements. The Group’s financial management
and controls are structured so that the Group comply with
these covenants.

Capital expenditure

During YE16, the Group invested some £0.7m of capital
expenditure; the main categories of investment were as
follows:

£’m

Catering till system 0.5
Pitch maintenance equipment 0.1
Other capital expenditure 0.1

0.7

The Group received a grant of £0.2m in respect of the catering
till system purchase.

Balance sheet and reserves

The decrease in the Group's reserves from £28.6m to £27.7m
arises from the retained profit for the year, the movement on
the hedging reserve and the movement on the amounts due
to non-controlling interests.

The fixed assets of the Group reduced by some £4.6m,
reflecting the capital expenditure of £0.7m offset by the
depreciation charged in the year of £5.3m.

Operating working capital fluctuates from year to year
depending upon the timing of events arising immediately prior
to the year end.

Commercial activity

Throughout the year, a series of important commercial
partnerships were renewed or achieved as new relationships
by the Group. These included:

New:

• a ten year partnership with Principality Building Society
for the naming rights of Principality Stadium 

• four year partnership with SeatWave as official secondary
market ticketing partner of the Group

Renewal:

• a further nine year extension with Under Armour,
including being the title sponsor of the Autumn Series 

• a further four year renewal with Heineken and Brains as
pourage rights partners at Principality Stadium 

• a further four year extension with Dove Men Care 

• a further four year extension with Vitality 

• a further one year extension with Guinness  

• a further four year period with Events International as
the Group’s Official Hospitality Operator

Welsh Language 

The Group continues to work in accordance with its Welsh
Language Policy. Where possible, the Group will ensure that
the Welsh language is widely used in its operations and
continually considers whether it can do more through the
medium of Welsh. 

Principal risks and mitigation strategies

As outlined earlier in this report, the Group’s primary objective
is to promote rugby to encourage more people to engage with
the game, more often, with more enjoyment and more
success, which is achieved by re-investment in community
rugby, performance rugby and Principality Stadium.

The Directors’ assessment of the principal risks to delivering
this objective, their potential affect and the steps taken by the
Group to mitigate these risks are set out below:

Income generation – the ability to generate income dictates
the level of re-investment the Group is able to make in all
forms of rugby. A sustained fall in income would lead to a
reduction in financial resource available for re-investment in
rugby. 

Some 68% (2015: 83%) of the Group’s income is
predominantly derived from staging international matches
featuring the National Squad and the commercial activities
associated with the National Squad. Given its significance, the
mitigation of income risk is therefore focused on match and
commercial incomes. 

The Group seeks to mitigate risk to income by, where possible,
entering into long term arrangements with its broadcasters,
sponsors and other commercial partners. The Group’s ticket
pricing strategy is focused on maintaining a balance between
the highest possible attendances and strong financial returns.
The Group’s ticket prices are reviewed annually with reference
to market conditions and the opposition faced. 

As noted above, 68% (2015: 83%) of the Group’s income is
derived from activities associated with the National Squad. The
performance of the National Squad will have an impact on the
Group’s ability to generate income, particularly over the
medium to long term. The Group aims to ensure the success
of the National Squad by recruiting a world class coaching and
medical team to provide the best possible support to National
Squad players, securing additional preparation time for the
National Squad players and extensive investment in training
facilities, to ensure the National Squad have the best possible
environment in which to train.

The provision of adequate banking facilities - the Group
is financed by a mixture of bank and debenture debt. The
continued availability of the bank debt facilities, at competitive
rates, is crucial to the future prospects of the Group. The
Group’s banking facilities are subject to compliance with
financial covenants and non-compliance of these covenants
could significantly impact on the Group’s banking facilities.
Ensuring adherence to the financial covenants forms a key
part of all policy and strategy and the Group has a rigorous
annual budgeting process that is focused on covenant
compliance. The Group reviews performance against this
budget throughout the year in order to identify any potential
risks to compliance. The Group is continually in
communication with its bankers, in respect of the Group’s
activities and performance.

The maintenance, physical security and insurance of its
main assets, primarily Principality Stadium – the majority
of the Group’s income is derived from the staging of
international matches at Principality Stadium and should
Principality Stadium not be available to host matches the
Group would have to seek alternative venues, which would
likely incur significant costs and may not have similar capacity.
Loss of or restricted access to the Group’s other assets, such
as the National Centre of Excellence (“NCE”), would also have
a severely detrimental impact on the Group. The training
facilities at the NCE are amongst the best in the world and
National Squad performance may suffer as a result of loss of
access to these facilities. The Group takes extensive measures
to safeguard its assets. The Group employs a team of
maintenance and facility management staff who undertake a
thorough preventative maintenance programme at all of the
Group’s facilities. The Group procures comprehensive
insurance policies that, in the event of damage to assets,
provide recompense for rectification of damage and for loss
of earnings due to business interruption.



THE WELSH RUGBY UNION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2016 21

REPORT FROM
THE HEAD OF
RUGBY PARTICIPATION

THE WELSH RUGBY UNION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 201620

Since being appointed in February, my own challenge as Head
of Rugby Participation has been to directly champion the
community game on the Executive Board and I am working
closely alongside Geraint John, in his capacity as Head of
Rugby Performance. 

It is vitally important for us to ensure a strong connection exists
between the two departments and that this connection is felt
and experienced at every level of the game. 

I have been welcomed as a ‘champion of the community
game’ in the Executive Board and it is a mantle I fully intend
to live up to, by continually improving the way in which we
engage with our member clubs and each of their, equally
important, constituent parts – from club secretaries, to players,
coaches, administrators and all volunteers.

The core XV-a-side game and the community clubs are the
lifeblood of the Group so, whilst I will talk below a little about
new facets of the game we want to develop in our bid to
increase participation in future seasons, our central priority
and the objectives of all our investments will be in growing
this core element of the sport. 

We will centre our attention around the club game, and have
made a commitment to engage more and to interact in a way
which is appealing to all. I hope clubs have and will continue
to find our tone conversational and our manner responsive
and there will be much more of this to come in the future. 

The year reached a climax in style at Principality Stadium for
all those clubs involved in the SSE SWALEC Cup, Plate and
Bowl competitions and it was great to see victories for
Llandovery (Cup), Bedlinog (Plate) and Burry Port (Bowl) on
Finals Day on the 1 May 2016. 

Congratulations to Merthyr who won the SSE SWALEC
Championship title. It had been all to play for in the
Championship, particularly in light of the planned restructure
and ring fencing of the Premiership with the four promoted
clubs – Merthyr, Swansea, Bargoed and RGC 1404 now part
of a 16 club competition for the next three years. 

The rise of RGC1404 into the Premiership is a significant
achievement that should not pass without mention and the
fact that we have a development Region in North Wales
supporting the game at all levels in that area is something to
take huge pride in. 

We won’t go through each league with a name check for the
champions of each, but suffice to say that the club game has
been as vibrant as ever when it comes to the business end of
the season - and we will be doing everything in our power to
ensure that the secrets to the success of those clubs who make
it to the top permeate freely throughout the game in Wales. 

That said anyone who watched Cowbridge against Cardiff
Metropolitan University in our Youth Cup Final at Principality
Stadium in April will forgive me for sending my
congratulations to both teams who put on a great spectacle,
with Cowbridge lifting the trophy after a 13-6 win. 

Our development leagues, the National Youth Leagues, the
U18 Wednesday League, the Youth Cup, Plate and Bowl
competitions and the Dewar Shield are all vital breeding
grounds for our game. 

Much of our strategic thinking this year has been based
around our own ‘Shape Our Game’ survey, which canvassed
the views of over 4,800 adults in and around the game in
Wales, as well as detailed research via our Youth Working
Group and Second XV Working Group. 

We have also consulted with other organisations like Sport
Wales, Sport England, the Football Association of Wales and
England Athletics as well as the newly created WRU Youth
Board with the intention of giving ourselves a full 360 degree
view of our national game and the issues we face. 

Some of the steps we have taken have included capitalising
on the School Club Hub programme. We are continually
evolving its parameters, but a significant move in this area has
been the appointment of five officers in association with five
Universities. 

We have seen an almost 50% increase in player numbers at
the School Club Hubs over the two years of the scheme so far
and, building on the increase already shown in year one of
the scheme, a 30% increase in fixtures in this second year of
the scheme and a further 16% increase in teams. 

Those numbers mean we have successfully added 2,109
players directly to clubs and girls hubs directly from Club Hub
schools in the past year.

We have looked hard at the second XV offering at clubs and
schools and are piloting this in Division 3 West where
Newcastle Emlyn’s second team are a part of the fixture
matrix. 

Towards the end of the season we announced a new initiative
- piloted at 25 clubs last season - for community rugby which
will guarantee club players, at U16 and below, at least half of

the playing time available to any squad player at any given
match – called ‘Half-a-Game’. This initiative is a real drawing
point for clubs, helping with recruitment and falls directly in
line with our key stated objectives of ensuring more people
enjoy the game of rugby more often and with more success
in the coming years. 

Another initiative which has met this ambition in spades is the
Girls’ Cluster Centres which have been a resounding success
and which we know has led to more than 2,000 new players
taking up the game already. The Girls’ Cluster clubs will
definitely be back next year and the successes of the offering
for the women’s and girls’ game, with its summer shift, will
be something that feeds our thinking now in other areas. 

Our offering will be rugby for all, it will be bespoke and could
well look different from district to district depending on
geography, but it is our ambition that it will be the best that
it can be.  

We want to develop different formats of the game and
involving all age groups, from starting younger to playing
longer and filling in any gaps in between. We are looking at
the age banding for example which says any player between
16 and 19 is a youth player and asking what form of the game
can be played by those of us who have recently retired, or
those of us who haven’t picked up a ball for 15 years but
could perhaps be tempted back. 

Ryan Jones
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This year we also held our inaugural Volunteer Awards Nights,
at Liberty Stadium and Rodney Parade, these are events which
we hope will grow and grow with awards won across the
whole game in Wales from schools to Clubs alike. The awards
nights concentrated on the Ospreys and Newport Gwent
Dragons Regions but this is something we are looking to roll
out through the rest of the country next year 

We are determined to be a governing body which invests in
those who invest in us and we want to build on the inclusivity
and values that are unique to our sport. 

I’ve touched on the idea of introducing new formats of the
game, with modified rules to cater for all age brackets and
abilities - a lifelong place in rugby for all - and this is something
we will be really pushing in the year ahead. 

We want to increase regular engagement and participation
across all ages, formats and competitions. We want strong
vibrant clubs that retain the values of our game and create a
positive rugby experience for everyone who comes into
contact with them and we are going to do our utmost to
achieve this. 

We will only achieve all of our aims through collaboration and
that means other sporting organisations in Wales as well as
schools and colleges. Utilising partners like the Urdd Gobaith
Cymru, for example, (one of Europe’s largest youth
organisations) we have seen 5,000 children playing in various
tournaments around Wales throughout the year. 

Success for us will mean a positive rugby experience for all
with a life-long place in the game for each individual and we
need to be brave in our thinking to meet the changing needs
of our participants.  

Our focus is on both the men’s and the women’s game, the
players and the supporters and the quantity and quality of our
coaches. 

Last year over 4,000 new volunteer coaches passed through
one of our Level One coaching courses, more than 6,000
completed a Tag or Leaders course and nearly 12,000 passed
through our Continued Professional Development (“CPD”)
courses. This is us in action right at the very heart of the game,
this is where we reach, influence and nurture rugby at its true
grass roots. We want the volunteer coaches who give up their
time each weekend for the good of the game to feel our
influence, to know we are here to support them and to excel
because of that support. 

That 12,000 figure, for CPD courses attended, is hugely
impressive and symbolic of where we are heading. These are
free to enter educational sessions for grass roots coaches held
over a few hours on a convenient night or weekend at a club
near you – often attended by international players or coaches,
also giving up their time voluntarily, so we can work together
for the future good of the game. That’s the true essence of
what rugby is all about, inclusivity and true altruism and that
is why we have succeeded and will continue to thrive. 

In terms of referees, we saw some 600 new referees attend
the level one referee course. We now have some 3,000
licensed referees across all age groups. This also incorporated
courses run at School Club Hubs and colleges and local
universities.

Enhanced training is now being given to all referees through
nine geographical societies and the aim now is to further that
training through the digital platform to all referees across
Wales which will hopefully further raise the standards of
officiating.

It will not come without hard work on our part and leadership
and direction. We cannot ignore our core XV-a-side game and
in order to achieve success and enjoyment on the pitch a drive
to win is vital, but that’s the top end of the pyramid and there
are plenty more in it for the sheer fun and joy of rugby who
are just as vital to our future.  

On that note, I’ll leave you with a final thought.  

We want to position our game to fit the changing needs of
its participants. In modern times we face competition for

leisure time from a growing variety of areas and so we want
to ensure that the rugby experience we offer is one that leaves
those participants wanting more.

We need to treat all those involved in the game of rugby as
welcome visitors, we need to look after them whilst they are
with us, ensure they have a great experience and ensure they
want to return.

We want to offer a lifelong experience in our game to all.  We
will always concentrate efforts on our core XV-a-side game
but we are the ultimate inclusive sport. There is room for
everyone in rugby and we need to make sure that message is
getting through loud and clear. 

More people, more often, with more enjoyment – that’s what
will bring us more success.

There are challenging times ahead and I would like to
personally thank all the staff and volunteers who are out there
working hard to safeguard the future of the game. We are
here to support you and, together, we will succeed.

REPORT FROM
THE HEAD OF
RUGBY PARTICIPATION
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Regional U18

Due to the limited windows of opportunity within the season
structure it was decided not to adopt a ‘grand final’ approach
to this year’s U18 competition. The programme objectives
were however consistent with previous years with
development and player exposure being top of the list. All
teams battled it out over a nine week period which allowed
the National U18 selectors the ideal opportunity to see the
best 120 players at this age group compete against their
peers. 

From a competition perspective, Cardiff Blues finished the
season on top of the pile with their West Wales rivals the
Scarlets finishing a close second. This level of competition
continues to be a vital cog in the development and talent
identification process that is so vital for the succession plans
of our semi-professional, professional and international teams. 

Wednesday league 

The U18 Wednesday league continued to go from strength to
strength and the league welcomed its newest team,
Whitchurch High School. The league was again split in two
following the opening three matches of the season in order
to establish some balance in the competition levels that exist
within the competing teams. 

This year’s competition was the most competitive yet with
over 350 players at U18 level engaged in rugby and
educational programs the length and breadth of Wales. The
programme also included regular monitoring via our web

based performance analysis system as well as regular visits to
the National Centre of Excellence where players’ strength,
conditioning and nutritional improvements were monitored.  

Old foes Coleg y Cymoedd and Coleg Sir Gar competed in this
year’s final for the third successive season, each college on a
win apiece. The 2016 showcase was once again played out at
Principality Stadium with Coleg y Cymoedd retaining their title
after a bruising and pulsating 70 minutes of rugby. 

International pathway teams 

Wales U18 

The U18 season continued with a two age group policy which
is so important to maintaining opportunity for development
and depth in our performance player population. The group
continued the tradition of playing Leicester Tigers U19 as a
warm up followed by games against France and England.

The first match against France saw the young Wales team rise
above the poor weather conditions to produce a performance
of character and excellent game awareness to overcome a very
big and powerful French XV. 

The last game of this series against England at the Talbot
Athletic Ground, Aberavon was hotly contested during a
superb 70 minute period where the score continually changed
hands, finally resulting in an England win. A drop goal in the
final seconds of the game saw England triumph but the final
result did not take away from the quality of rugby that the
two teams produced. 

Following a decision by Wales, Italy, Ireland, England and
Scotland to not attend the 2016 European U18 tournament,
the Group invited all the teams to take part in the inaugural
U18 International Series. St Helens, Swansea and Caerphilly
Centre of Sporting Excellence, Ystrad Mynach, were the
venues for a series of double header matches. The games
were played under the World Rugby U18 age banding which
allowed the Group to extend the international experience to
a younger age group of player thus developing a greater pool
of player for future selection purposes. The quality and
intensity of games played were of an extremely high standard
with all teams keen to return to a similar event next year. 

Results in the two opening games of the series were favorable
with competitive contests against Scotland and Italy. However
the final game against England was disappointing from a
result perspective with the team going down 41-9.
Nevertheless the 12 day experience was valuable both from a
rugby and personal development perspective for the players
and staff involved. 

It has been an exciting 12 months since arriving back to Wales
after ten years working with Rugby Canada and the Australian
Rugby Union and I’m proud to have stepped into this new
role. I would like to thank all the Executive Board and the
Board for all their support since my arrival.

My aim is to constantly strive to help Wales, the Regions and
Premiership clubs plus all our National Teams (men and
women) to be as successful as possible. We are creating
modern, world leading and sustainable programmes so that
success can be achieved in the short term, but also long into
the future. 

Regional age grade 

Regional U16

Following a review of the Regional age grade season structure,
slight changes were made to accommodate the wider
community game as well as enhance the talent identification
opportunities that exist within this important age group. The

season was split in two with one block of games taking place
at the very beginning of the season and the second block
taking place in February and March 2016. The changes also
attempted to consider the difference in maturation rates of
boys within this age category. This physical maturation
difference can sometimes cause performance gaps which can
lead to bias of selection into ongoing performance
programmes. The effects of the changes were very well
received and were also adopted for the 2016/17 season. 

The series of games over the season saw Ospreys East, Ospreys
West, Dragons North, Dragons South, Scarlets East, Scarlets
West, Blues North, Blues South and North Wales battle it out
in round robin format which saw over 300 players represent
their respective regions and gain an excellent player
development experience. Such an experience included expert
advice on skill, nutrition and lifestyle development weaved into
a playing programme that will have helped them gain a
greater understanding of the requirements of this heightened
level of rugby.

Geraint John
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Women’s game

With an expanded Regional schedule that included six fixtures
we saw an increased depth and interest within our Senior and
U18s programmes. The Regions were able to develop players
with a new philosophy to underpin what they were delivering,
thus being able to deliver a player-centered and competition
supported programme with the long term goal to enable
players to be in a better position to put their hands up to
secure a Welsh jersey.  

On the national stage, media coverage of the women’s game
has increased significantly in recent years, with games being
streamed live, increased coverage in newspapers, on radio and
television along with positive audience figures attending home
games. On the field Wales Women had a mixed Six Nations,
with an emphatic win over France that secured Wales’ World
Cup qualification, but also included disappointing and
frustrating losses to Ireland, England and Italy. Another
moment of history saw the first full time female Welsh player
in Sian Williams who was fully supported by the RAF to focus
on her rugby on a full time basis.

The Group and Sport Wales supported two players to join a
full time training programme with England Rugby to achieve
Olympic ambitions and secure a spot in Team GB for Rio.
Laurie Harries unfortunately suffered as shoulder injury two
months prior to selection but we saw Jasmine Joyce go all the
way and secure her moment in history as the first female
Welsh rugby player to compete at an Olympic Games.

Looking forward to this coming season we have completed
significant recruitment in both the National Women’s and
Regional set ups, with new management teams now in place,
who are already connecting up to ensure we deliver an
effective and player-centered pathway. It is a pivotal year for
Women’s international rugby where we will have autumn
international fixtures, a Rugby World Cup less than 12 months
away and the ambition to secure a coveted spot on the 7s
World Series with the Commonwealth Games just around the
corner. We also aim this year to increase contact time with
players and support them to balance their work and life
commitments alongside successful rugby careers.

Wales 7s headlines

With player development our main focus, as part of the
pathway, we are very proud in our achievements on this front
over the year. 

Despite some difficult performances from a results point of
view, we have advanced players on a physical, tactical, and
technical point of view; as follows

• Sam Cross, James Davies, and Luke Treharne were selected
for the travelling party to the Rio Olympics and winning
Silver Medals. 

• 21 players used on World Series. 

• 17 Regional players developed through World Series
exposure during the season. 

• Regional players utilised as part of the Rugby Services
Agreement were as follows:

• Blues – Ben Roach, Chris Knight, Adam Thomas, Owen
Jenkins, Jevon Groves, Tom Isaacs. 

• Dragons – Angus O’Brien, James Benjamin, Lloyd Lewis. 

• Ospreys - Morgan Williams, Lloyd Evans, Kristian Phillips.

• Scarlets – Jordan Williams, Rhodri Williams, Steff Evans. 

• Premiership players used include Luke Crocker (Ebbw Vale),
and Ethan Davies (Cross Keys).

Wales U20 

The 2016 U20 programme started in August 2015 with the
continuity in the management team headed by international
skills coach Jason Strange supported by Geraint Lewis, Chris
Horsman and defence coach Richard Hodges. The new season
also saw Dr Rich Neil (Cardiff Met) join the team as a
Performance Coach concentrating primarily on the mental
skills needed to prepare and perform at this level of
international rugby. 

The management team, together with a collaborative working
approach with the Regions honed the skills of the selected
squad throughout the year before embarking on their first
U20 Six Nations game of the season v Ireland in Dublin. After
a hard-fought victory against the men in green, the young
U20 team swept all before them. This run of victories included
an impressive 42-16 win over old rivals England at Bristol,
before a workmanlike final win against Italy at a packed Parc
Eirias, Colwyn Bay. 

Securing a first ever grand slam at U20 level was a fantastic
achievement but the overall objectives of the programme were
always front of mind. Preparing the players in the correct way
is paramount and establishing a consistent level of
performance both on and off the field has allowed positive
results to follow. 

The World Rugby U20 Championship in Manchester saw
Wales again open their campaign against Ireland at the
Manchester City Football Academy Stadium. It was Ireland’s
turn to be victorious on this occasion, meaning that Wales had
to win their two remaining games to progress to the semi-
finals of the competition. A hard fought victory against
Georgia meant that it was all to play for against reigning
champions New Zealand. Wales were cruelly denied victory in
the final seconds of the game with New Zealand slotting a last
minute penalty to claim victory. 

Wales’ final games, against New Zealand again and finally
Scotland, saw them finish the competition in seventh place. 
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regarded by many as one of the games top referees went onto
referee the final between Australia and New Zealand. He also,
later, refereed both the Champions Cup & PRO 12 finals.

Ben Whitehouse and Ian Davies both established themselves
in the professional game. Whitehouse also made his bow at
European level continuing the heavy involvement of Welsh
officials at this level. Craig Evans was selected for the Junior
World Cup in Manchester and also refereed along with Dan
Jones in the U20 Six Nations. Clayton Thomas continued his
role as a World Rugby selector along with Robert Davies in the
world women’s game.

The National Referee Academy, set up in 2010, continues to
grow from strength to strength providing emerging young
talented referees the opportunities to stake their claims at the
higher levels.

The way ahead

I have listened to as many people as possible who are involved
in the game at this level to learn exactly what is currently being
delivered and what might be required. We have fantastic
people out there who all want success and who work hard
every day striving to deliver excellence to players, coaches and
referees. 

My findings have helped to drive the strategic plan and what
is required in our Performance Programme. The next aim will
be to keep developing our programmes, keep listening and
make sure that everything we do has a specific aim, purpose
and follows what is laid out in the strategic plan. Some of the
decisions in the future may be popular while there could also
be some unpopular decisions, but I promise that there will be
engagement and discussions when making these decisions.

Our finishing position on the World Series was 12th. We
qualified for two quarter- finals, won two Bowl competitions
and won two Shield competitions.

Our main target of player development will continue, in
conjunction with the Regions under the Rugby Services
Agreement. 

We have extended the core group to eight players. This will
enhance the foundation to maximize the development value
to those Regional players joining the squad before
tournaments.

Faced with the challenge of balancing development and
performance on a truly World Class stage, our aim is to
maintain a 10th place finish, while working closely with the
Regions to enhance player development opportunities.

Our biggest performance goals are developing towards 2018,
where we aim to medal at the Commonwealth Games, and
challenge for the Rugby 7s World Cup. 

The Regions 

Europe:

Newport Gwent Dragons were Welsh rugby’s leading lights
in Europe reaching the semi-finals of the Challenge Cup after
a 21-23 away win to Gloucester Rugby at Kingsholm. The
semi-final was another away trip, to Montpelier’s Altrad
Stadium, but the dream of a place in the final ended there
with a 22-12 loss.

Cardiff Blues joined the Dragons in the Challenge Cup, but
failed to progress from a tough pool which produced the
eventual tournament winners, Montpellier, and fellow finalists
Harlequins. 

The Ospreys were still in with a chance of qualifying for the
knock-out stages of the Champions Cup on the final weekend
of the pool stages. They came close to graduating from their
pool for the first time since 2010, but a 33-17 defeat away to
Exeter Chiefs saw the English side go through instead.
Elsewhere the Scarlets, drawn in a pool which featured
eventual finalists Racing 92, quarter-finalists Northampton
Saints and Glasgow Warriors, couldn’t notch up a win. 

PRO12:

The Scarlets were the highest placed Welsh side in the Pro12
table, in fifth position after the final round of fixtures,
qualifying them for the European Champions Cup. The Blues
finished seventh, Ospreys eighth and the Dragons 10th, with
all three sides contesting the European Challenge Cup for
season 16/17 as a result. 

Premiership

The Principality Premiership came to its own natural crescendo
in May, with Ebbw Vale clinching the title for the first time.
The Steelmen finally loosened Pontypridd’s grip on a title they
had held since 2011 with a well-deserved 38-12 victory at
Sardis Road. Pontypridd would not finish the season empty
handed though, after already lifting the Foster’s Challenge
Cup with a 38-34 victory over Bedwas at the Brewery Field in
April.

Referees

This was another exceptional year for our match officials
operating at all levels of the game with a number playing
prominent roles in the global game. Nigel Owens and
Leighton Hodges were selected for Rugby World Cup 2015.
Owens as a referee and Hodges as an assistant referee. Owens
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There is a clear Rugby Performance strategy now in place
which has six clear elements:

1. Coach development

Improve and develop National, Regional and Premiership
coaches; identify and improve next generation of potential
Wales coaches and create succession plans for National and
Regional teams.  

2. Player development

Identify players within Wales and externally and provide
support to develop players technically, tactically and physically.
Provide player welfare off the field and ensure vibrant
competition structure to allow players to reach potential. 

3. National age grade 

Provide vibrant professional environment to allow players to
develop and succeed and prepare them for Premiership,
Regional and International rugby.

4. National 7s

Be competitive on World Rugby Sevens circuit and develop
players for Regional and National Teams. Ensure there is a
pathway for 7s players back into the high performance and
professional game. 

5. Women 

To be competitive in the Women’s Six Nations and at the
Women’s Rugby World Cup, to become a core side on the

World Rugby Sevens circuit and to participate at all
Commonwealth Games.

6. Elite referees

Create, develop and maintain quality referees for Premiership,
Regional and International rugby (male and female).

Through our close working relationship with the Regions and
our partners we have identified some key aims which will help
to drive our men’s and women’s programmes.

What would success look like at the performance end of
the men’s game?

- Wales consistently ranked in top four and regularly
beating Southern Hemisphere sides

- Regions consistently finishing in the top six and winning
the Guinness Pro 12 and at least two Regions progressing
to the knock out stages of the Champions Cup

- Establish clear succession plans for two RWC cycles for
players and coaches

- Establish a transparent, future-proofed vision on how we
intend to prepare, play and evolve the game

What would success look at the performance end of the
women’s game?

- Wales consistently ranked in the world top 8

- Wales consistently in the top three of the Six Nations

- Wales Women’s 7s team to become a core World Series
team and 2022 Commonwealth Games medal contender 

- Establish clear succession plan for two RWC cycles (for
players and coaches)

- Establish a transparent, future-proofed vision on how we
intend to prepare, play and evolve the game

- Align the performance end of the women’s game in
Wales

To do this there are areas where we will focus in 2016/17
to improve:

• Close working relationship between National, Regional and
National age group coaching teams – create a close
alignment between all programmes

• Focus on clear set of objectives to improve. These will
include key skills under pressure and fatigue, game and
training analysis and research on the development of the
game 
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• Increase the support for National, Regional and Premiership
coaches

• Provide workshops for coaches to attend – National,
Regional, Premiership and Age Grade to include Academies,
Colleges and Schools

• Create player succession plans for all national and regional
programmes and teams

• Create detailed Young Player plans and profiles which will
include training plans, competition plans – both on and off
the field

• Increased investment and focus on 7s and women’s rugby
and consequently improved performance on the pitch

• Work closely with the Premiership clubs and their coaches
and conditioners 

• Look closely at the competition structure for our age grade
players (15 to 18) to make sure it helps in the development

of our players for future success

• Identify players from other sports to play 7s especially in the
women’s game

• Link up with other high performance sports teams,
organisations, coaches and leaders

• Increase investment and focus on the “Exiles” programme.
This will allow us to monitor, support and identify Welsh
qualified players in the UK, Europe and around the World
who may wish to play in Wales and who may be good
enough to play International rugby.

• Increase the development and support to our elite referees 

To win World Cups, Pro 12, international games (7s and 15s)
in the men’s and women’s games, we have to work together
and be willing to listen, accept change and not be scared
about innovation.
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We ended the 2016 Six Nations tournament in second place.
The success we have enjoyed recently and our ambition means
that second place isn’t a satisfactory achievement. It should
be acknowledged, but we must constantly strive for better.
Below par first half performances against Ireland and England
left us with too much to do in those games and those dropped
points ruled us out of top spot. The attitude and performance
to finish the tournament with a record-breaking victory over
Italy in Cardiff was extremely pleasing.

Ahead of the tour to New Zealand we scheduled a Test against
England at Twickenham to help with our preparation for
facing the All Blacks. Whilst the result wasn’t what we desired,
the physical benefits of the run-out were vitally important and
exposed the players to the step-up in pace of international
rugby before the first Test in New Zealand.

Returning from New Zealand with a 3-0 loss is an obvious
disappointment. The disappointment is more profound
because we believed our performances in the first two Tests
warranted better results. We played a positive brand of rugby,
taking the game to the All Blacks, however there are key
things for us to learn from the matches in terms of composure
and decision making under pressure and fatigue. With the
third Test, we have to put our hands up as a squad and say
we weren’t at the races. We have analysed the match and
preparation and again learnt from our findings. The
experiences will help shape our game going forward, with the
positive elements giving us the confidence that we are on the
right track.

The last year has been an intense, exciting period for the
Senior National Squad. Beginning with the preparation for the
game’s showpiece tournament, followed by the event itself
which captured the public imagination, to the bread and
butter of the Six Nations and then a three-Test tour to face
the World Champions in their own back yard.  

This has been an important season for the Senior National
Squad, from which we take positive lessons that will shape us
going forward.

Training camps in Switzerland, Qatar and North Wales built
the basis of our preparation for the 2015 Rugby World Cup.
The effort and commitment delivered by the training squad,
competing for those final 31 places in the tournament, was
immense.  

We have always spoken about time together being a huge
factor for this squad and it was proven once again. The longer

we were together last year the greater the results. We faced
Ireland in back-to-back matches before the final warm-up
clash against Italy and, whilst we suffered injuries, in that
match we headed into the tournament well prepared.

With three of the World’s top five teams grouped together in
Pool A (four of the top nine when you add in Fiji), the stakes
were high for the two qualifying spots for the knockout
stages. We kicked off in Cardiff with a strong performance
against Uruguay before beating the hosts England at
Twickenham. The victory over Fiji set us up for a top of the
pool decider against Australia but, despite a strong display,
the Wallabies came out on top.  We were in the driving seat
for 75 minutes against South Africa in the quarter-final before
a moment of magic minutes from time, edged the Springboks
in front, sending them through to the semi-final. There was
significant frustration in being minutes from a second
successive World Cup semi-final.

Warren Gatland
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements (the “financial statements”) in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. The Directors have prepared
the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS102, “The Financial
Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland”, and applicable law (“United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice”).  

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether FRS102 “The Financial Reporting
Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”
has been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and the Group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.  

Disclosure of information to auditors

(a) So far as the Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware;
and

(b) The Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to
have taken as a Director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that
information.

Independent auditors

The Group undertook a tender process for its audit services
during the year. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the incumbent
auditors, were successful in the tender process and have
indicated their willingness to continue in office. A resolution
to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will be proposed at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Gareth Williams
Company Secretary

27 September 2016

The Directors present their report and the Group and
Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2016.

Principal activities and review of the business

The principal activity of the Group is to promote rugby to
encourage more people to engage with the game, more
often, with more enjoyment and more success. This activity,
together with the primary objective and the likely future
development of the Group are reviewed in the Chairman’s
Statement, the Group Chief Executive’s Summary and the
Strategic Report.

Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed to financial risks from interest bearing
assets and liabilities and interests in overseas companies. These
expose the Group to financial risks including foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

• Foreign exchange risk
Where applicable, the Group mitigates foreign
exchange risk with the use of forward contracts. As at
30 June 2016, the Group has no material foreign
exchange risk (2015: £nil).

• Interest rate risk
The Group has interest bearing liabilities. As shown in
Note 15, the Group’s policy is to hedge against the

majority of any interest risk on liabilities by using
derivative instruments to effectively hedge the interest
rate risk. The Group has interest bearing assets which
are invested at differing interest rates; these interest
rates are fixed at the outset of the investment.

• Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk. The Group has implemented policies that require
appropriate credit checks on potential credit customers
before sales commence.  Interest bearing assets are only
invested with financial institutions that have excellent
credit ratings.

• Liquidity risk
The Group maintains a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility. As at 30 June 2016, only 24%
(2015: 31%) of the borrowings were due to expire
within five years.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of signing the financial statements are listed on page 67.

Donations

The Group’s primary charitable donation was £73,000 (2015:
£82,000) to the Welsh Rugby Charitable Trust. This trust,
which is independent from the Group, was set up to provide
support to players who were injured whilst playing rugby in
Wales. There were no political donations (2015: £nil). 

Corporate social responsibility

The Group recognises its responsibility to the communities
which are affected by its businesses and regularly reviews its
policies with regard to social, ethical and environmental
matters. Any matters in any of these categories which may
materially affect the business of the Group are reviewed as
required by the Board.

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the financial position of the
Group for a period of two years from the year end against the
expected recurring operational income, expenditure and
interest costs in conjunction with the Group’s banking
covenants. On this basis, the Directors consider that the Group
has more than sufficient resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the
Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the Group’s financial statements.

Gareth Williams
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Total Total
Note 2016 2015

£’m £’m

Match, commercial, hospitality and other income 63.6 56.7
Competition income 9.7 8.1
Turnover 2 (a) 73.3 64.8

Administrative expenses 2 (b) (71.8) (50.6)

Operating profit before depreciation, 
exceptional items and allocations to 
affiliated organisations (“EBITDA”) 30.2 30.3
Allocations to affiliated organisations 2 (d) (25.2) (22.6)
Exceptional items 4 0.2 10.0
Depreciation and amortisation (net of grant release) 4 (3.7) (3.5)

Operating profit 1.5 14.2

Interest payable and similar charges 3 (0.9) (1.3)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 4 0.6 12.9

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6 (0.3) (0.6)

Profit for the financial year 0.3 12.3

Profit attributable to:
Company 0.1 12.1
Non-controlling interest 0.2 0.2

0.3 12.3

The turnover and operating profit shown above are derived from continuing operations.  

Total Total
Note 2016 2015

£’m £’m

Profit for the financial year 0.3 12.3
Other comprehensive income:
Cash flow hedges

• Change in value of interest rate hedging instruments 15 (0.1) -
• Reclassifications to profit and loss of foreign exchange (0.3) (0.1)
hedging instruments

• Change in value of foreign exchange hedging instruments 15 (0.3) 0.3
• Deferred tax on components of other comprehensive income 6 0.1 -

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (0.6) 0.2
Total comprehensive income for the year (0.3) 12.5

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Company (0.5) 12.3
Non-controlling interest 0.2 0.2

(0.3) 12.5
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2016 2015 2016 2015
Group Group Company Company

Note £’m £’m £’m £’m
Fixed assets
Intangible asset 8 2.7 3.0 - -
Tangible assets 9 121.0 125.6 38.3 38.5
Investments 10 - - 16.6 16.6

123.7 128.6 54.9 55.1
Current assets
Stock 11 0.9 0.7 - -
Deferred tax asset 17 - - 0.2 0.1
Financial assets

• Derivative financial instrument 15 - 0.3 - 0.3
• Debtors 12 7.5 7.5 54.8 56.9
• Cash at bank and in hand 13 0.2 3.1 0.3 3.0

8.6 11.6 55.3 60.3
Current liabilities
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 14 (25.1) (30.0) (18.7) (27.2)
Net current (liabilities)/assets (16.5) (18.4) 36.6 33.1

Total assets less current liabilities 107.2 110.2 91.5 88.2

Creditors – amounts falling due 14 (43.0) (42.9) (43.0) (42.9)
after more than one year
Accruals and deferred income 16 (35.4) (37.2) - -
Provisions for liabilities 17 (1.1) (1.5) - -

Net assets  27.7 28.6 48.5 45.3

Capital and reserves
Other reserves 2.3 2.3 2.6 2.6
Hedging reserve (0.5) 0.1 (0.5) 0.1
Profit and loss reserve 23.1 23.0 46.4 42.6
Capital and reserves attributable to: Company 24.9 25.4 48.5 45.3
Non-controlling interests 2.8 3.2 - -
Total capital and reserves 27.7 28.6 48.5 45.3

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Gareth Davies Martyn Phillips
Chairman Group Chief Executive

The notes on pages 46 to 64 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
Company Number 3419514

Other Hedging Profit and Non- Total
reserves reserve loss reserve controlling

interest
Note £'m £'m £'m £'m £'m

Balance as at 1 July 2014 2.3 (0.1) 10.9 - 13.1

Profit for the year - - 12.1 0.2 12.3

Other comprehensive income for the year:

Reclassifications to profit and loss of foreign 15 - (0.1) - - (0.1)
exchange hedging instruments

Fair value gains on foreign exchange derivative 15 - 0.3 - - 0.3
financial instruments

Total other comprehensive income for the year - 0.2 - - 0.2

Total comprehensive income for the year - 0.2 12.1 0.2 12.5

Arising from the formation of MSEL 8 - - - 3.3 3.3

Dividends - - - (0.3) (0.3)

Balance as at 30 June 2015 2.3 0.1 23.0 3.2 28.6

Balance as at 1 July 2015 2.3 0.1 23.0 3.2 28.6

Profit for the year - - 0.1 0.2 0.3

Other comprehensive income for the year

Fair value loss on interest rate derivative 15 - (0.1) - - (0.1)
financial instruments

Reclassifications to profit and loss of foreign 15 - (0.3) - - (0.3)
exchange hedging instruments

Fair value loss on foreign exchange derivative 15 - (0.3) - - (0.3)
financial instruments

Deferred tax on other comprehensive income 6 - 0.1 - - 0.1

Total other comprehensive income for the year - (0.6) - - (0.6)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (0.6) 0.1 0.2 (0.3)

Dividends - - - (0.6) (0.6)

Balance as at 30 June 2016 2.3 (0.5) 23.1 2.8 27.7

Other reserves relate to reserves pre-incorporation in 1997.

The hedging reserve is used to record transactions arising from the Group’s cash flow hedging arrangements.
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Other Hedging Profit and Total
reserves reserve loss reserve

Note £'m £'m £'m £'m

Balance as at 1 July 2014 2.6 (0.1) 36.1 38.6

Profit for the year - - 6.5 6.5

Other comprehensive income for the year

Reclassifications to profit and loss of foreign exchange 15 - (0.1) - (0.1)
hedging instruments

Fair value gains on foreign exchange derivative financial instruments 15 - 0.3 - 0.3

Total other comprehensive income for the year - 0.2 - 0.2

Total comprehensive income for the year - 0.2 6.5 6.7

Balance as at 30 June 2015 2.6 0.1 42.6 45.3

Balance as at 1 July 2015 2.6 0.1 42.6 45.3

Profit for the year - - 3.8 3.8

Other comprehensive income for the year

Fair value loss on interest rate derivative financial instruments 15 - (0.1) - (0.1)

Reclassifications to profit and loss of foreign exchange 15 - (0.3) - (0.3)
hedging instruments

Fair value loss on foreign exchange derivative financial instruments 15 - (0.3) - (0.3)

Deferred tax on other comprehensive income 6 - 0.1 - 0.1

Total other comprehensive income for the year - (0.6) - (0.6)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (0.6) 3.8 3.2

Balance as at 30 June 2016 2.6 (0.5) 46.4 48.5

Other reserves relate to reserves pre-incorporation in 1997.

The hedging reserve is used to record transactions arising from the Company’s cash flow hedging arrangements. 

2016 2016 2015 2015
Note £’m £’m £’m £’m

Net cash from operating activities 22 6.4 6.2

Taxation paid (0.8) (2.2)

Net cash generated from operating activities 5.6 4.0

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (0.7) (3.4)

Net cash used in investing activities (0.7) (3.4)

Cash flow from financing activities

Interest paid (0.8) (1.2)

Grant received 0.2 1.7

Grant repaid (0.1) (0.1)

Drawdown of bank loans 6.2 17.3

Repayment of bank loans (12.3) (15.0)

Payments to replace derivative instruments (0.4) -

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (0.6) (0.3)

Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (7.8) 2.4

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 23 (2.9) 3.0

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3.1 0.1

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 0.2 3.1

The notes on pages 46 to 64 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(e) when the specific criteria relating to each of its sales
channels have been met, as described below.

Turnover represents amounts invoiced, excluding net of
returns, discounts and rebates allowed by the Group and
value added taxes, in respect of the sale of goods and
services. Ticket income, sale of hospitality packages,
competition income and other event income are
recognised as revenue when the related event is staged.
Revenue determined by commercial agreements, which
makes up the majority of broadcasting revenue,
sponsorship and royalty revenue and lease of hospitality
boxes is recognised based on the relevant contractual
terms. Where consideration is received in kind, income and
expenditure are grossed up on the basis of arms’ length
commercial rates.  

Incoming resources from non-exchange transactions are
recognised as follows:

(a) transactions that do not impose specified future
performance-related conditions on the recipient are
recognised in income when the resources are received
or receivable;

(b) transactions that do impose specified future
performance-related conditions on the recipient are
recognised in income only when the performance-
related conditions are met; and

(c) where resources are received before the revenue
recognition criteria are satisfied, a liability is recognised.

Incoming resources from non-exchange transactions are
measured as follows:

(a) donated services and facilities that would otherwise
have been purchased are measured at the value to the
entity; and

(b) all other incoming resources from non-exchange
transactions are measured at the fair value of the
resources received or receivable.

j. Exceptional items

In order to improve the understanding of the financial
statements, the Directors have identified separately, on the
face of the income statement, those items of income and
charge which by their size, nature and/or incidence are
exceptional to the financial statements for the year. These
are shown as exceptional within the categories of
expenditure to which they relate.

k. Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets comprise Hospitality Catering Rights.
These are initially recognised at fair value and are then
amortised on a straight line basis over the contracted
period of 10 years. The carrying value of intangible assets
is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be
recoverable. 

l. Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at historic cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes the original purchase price of the
asset and the costs attributable to bringing the asset to its
working condition for its intended use. 

The tangible fixed assets of the Group, excluding land, are
depreciated on a straight line basis calculated to write
down their cost to estimated residual values over their
estimated useful economic lives as follows: 

Stadium Up to 50 years
Other buildings Up to 50 years
Centre of Excellence Up to 10 years
Other Fixed assets Up to 10 years

Leasehold buildings are depreciated over the lower of 50
years and the remaining life of the lease.

m. Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. In accordance with the
Companies Act 2006, the Group has taken advantage of
the exemption afforded to certain subsidiary companies to
be audited. The Welsh Rugby Union Limited has given a
guarantee to its subsidiary WRU Supporters Club Limited
under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.

n. Leased assets

Where the Group enters into a lease which entails taking
substantially all the risks and rewards of an asset, the lease
is treated as a “hire purchase arrangement”. The present
value of the minimum lease payments is recorded in the
balance sheet as a tangible fixed asset. Future instalments
under such leases, net of finance charges, are included
within creditors. Rentals payable are apportioned between
the finance element, which is charged to the income
statement, and the capital element which reduces the
outstanding hire purchase liability.

1. Accounting policies

a. General information

The company is limited by guarantee and is incorporated
in England and Wales and domiciled in the UK. The address
of its registered office is Principality Stadium, Westgate
Street, Cardiff, CF10 1NS.

b. Statement of compliance

The Group and individual financial statements of The
Welsh Rugby Union Limited have been prepared in
compliance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102, ‘‘The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and
the Republic of Ireland’’ (‘‘FRS102’’) and the Companies
Act 2006. The Welsh Rugby Union Limited is considered
by the Directors to be a Public Benefit Entity under the
definition in FRS102.

c. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated and separate financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

d. Basis of preparation 

These consolidated and separate financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the recognition of certain
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

e. Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the financial position of the
Group for a period of two years from the year end against
the expected recurring operational income, expenditure
and interest costs in conjunction with the Group’s banking
covenants. On this basis the Directors consider that the
Group has more than sufficient resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason the Directors continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the Group’s financial statements.

f. Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS102
for the separate financial statements 

FRS102 allows a qualifying entity certain disclosure
exemptions, subject to certain conditions, which have been
complied with, including notification of, and no objection
to, the use of exemptions by the Company’s board
members.

The Company has taken advantage of the following
exemptions for the separate financial statements:

(i) from preparing a statement of cash flows, on the basis
that it is a qualifying entity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows, included in these financial
statements, includes the Company’s cash flows;

(ii) from the financial instrument disclosures, required
under FRS102 paragraphs 11.39 to 11.48A and
paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29, as the information is
provided in the consolidated financial statement
disclosures; and

(iii) from disclosing the Company key management
personnel compensation, as required by FRS102
paragraph 33.7.

g. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of The Welsh Rugby Union Limited
and its subsidiaries, Millennium Stadium plc, WRU
Supporters Club Limited, WRU National Centre of
Excellence Limited and Millennium Stadium Experience
Limited, all of which are made up to 30 June 2016 and
prepared using consistent accounting policies. All
intergroup transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

h. Foreign currency

The Group’s financial statements are presented in pounds
sterling and rounded to thousands. The Group’s functional
and presentational currency is pounds sterling.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred
in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow
hedges. 

i. Turnover 

The Group, when acting as principal, recognises revenue
when (a) the significant risks and rewards of ownership
have been transferred to the buyer; (b) it retains no
continuing involvement or control over the goods; (c) the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably; (d) it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to it and
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Other financial assets, including investments in equity
instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is
normally the transaction price.

Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss, except
that investments in equity instruments that are not publicly
traded and whose fair values cannot be measured reliably
are measured at cost less impairment.

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled,
or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the
ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or
(c) despite having retained some significant risks and
rewards of ownership, control of the asset has been
transferred to another party who has the practical ability
to unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party
without imposing additional restrictions.

(ii) Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other
payables, bank loans and loans from fellow Group
companies that are classified as debt, are initially
recognised at transaction price, unless the arrangement
constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt
instrument is measured at the present value of the future
payments discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors
are recognised initially at transaction price and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The derivative instruments utilised by the Group are
interest rate swaps and foreign exchange forward
contracts.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at their fair value on the market price data
from relevant counterparties. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recognised in profit or loss in finance costs
or finance income as appropriate, unless they are included
in a hedging arrangement.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is
extinguished, that is when the contractual obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(iii) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amounts presented in the financial statements when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(iv) Hedging arrangements

The Group applies hedge accounting in respect of forward
foreign exchange contracts held to manage the cash flow
exposures of forecast transactions denominated in foreign
currencies. These foreign exchange hedges have been
designated as cash flow hedges.

The Group also applies hedge accounting for transactions
entered into to manage the cash flow exposures of
borrowings. Interest rate swaps are held to manage the
interest rate exposures and are designated as cash flow
hedges of floating rate borrowings.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated as cash
flow hedges, and which are effective, are recognised
directly in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the hedging
relationship (being the excess of the cumulative change in
fair value of the hedging instrument since inception of the
hedge over the cumulative change in the fair value of the
hedged item since inception of the hedge) is recognised in
the income statement.

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to the income statement when the hedge
relationship ends. Hedge accounting is discontinued when
the hedging instrument expires, no longer meets the
hedging criteria, the forecast transaction is no longer
highly probable, the hedged debt instrument is
derecognised or the hedging instrument is terminated.

u. Public benefit entity concessionary loans
(including debentures)

Concessionary loans arrangements, when received for the
purpose of furthering the primary objective of the Group,
which include any debentures or bank loans received
below the prevailing market rate of interest are initially
measured at the amount received or paid. In subsequent
years, the carrying amount of concessionary loans in the
financial statements is adjusted to reflect any accrued
interest payable or receivable.

All other leases are accounted for as “operating leases”
and their rentals are charged to the income statement on
a straight line basis over the life of the lease.

o. Stock

Stock is valued at the lower of cost and estimated selling
price less costs to sell and consists of finished goods
purchased for resale and raw materials for use in the
supply of catering services. Where necessary, provision is
made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock. Cost
is determined on a first in first out basis. 

p. Current and deferred tax

The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. The
current tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet
date.

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are
differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the financial
statements. These timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in
periods different from those in which they are recognised
in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the
reporting date except for certain exceptions. Unrelieved tax
losses and other deferred tax assets are only recognised
when it is probable that they will be recovered against the
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable
profits.

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end
and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing
difference.

q. Pension costs 

For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to
the income statement in respect of pension costs and other
post-retirement benefits is the contributions payable in the
year. Differences between contributions payable in the year
and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

r. Grants

Grants receivable in respect of tangible fixed assets are
credited to the income statement over the expected useful
economic lives of the relevant assets to which they relate.
Grants received but not yet released to the income

statement are included as deferred income in the balance
sheet. Revenue grants are released to the income
statement in the same year as the related expense.

s. Capitalisation of interest

Interest is capitalised on major development projects and
capital works in progress where appropriate. Capitalisation
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to get
the asset ready for use are completed. Capitalised interest
is amortised to the income statement over the useful
economic life of the asset to which it relates.

t. Financial instruments

The Group has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of
FRS102 in respect of financial instruments.

(i) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other debtors,
cash and bank balances and loans due from Regions and
clubs, are initially recognised at transaction price, unless
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction,
where the transaction is measured at the present value of
the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

At the end of each reporting period financial assets
measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective
evidence of impairment. They are first assessed individually
for impairment, or collectively where the debtors are not
individually significant. Where there is no objective
evidence of impairment for an individual debtor, it is
included in a group of debtors with similar credit risk
characteristics and these are assessed collectively for
impairment based on their ageing.

If an asset is impaired the impairment loss is the difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising from an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current
carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying
amount would have been had the impairment not
previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is
recognised in profit or loss.
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To the extent that a loan that has been made is
irrecoverable, an impairment loss shall be recognised in the
income statement.

v. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand includes highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. 

w. Recognition of constructive liabilities

Where an event occurs that creates a constructive or legal
obligation on the Group and it is probable that an outflow
of resources, which can be reliably estimated, will be
required to settle the obligation a liability is recognised in
full in the period when the event occurred.  

Constructive liabilities are measured at the present value
of expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. In certain circumstances the transfer of cash to
settle the liability may occur in subsequent periods.

x. Critical judgments in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

(i) Control of MSEL (note 10)

Assessing whether the Group controls MSEL requires
judgment. The Group holds 83.5% of the voting rights of
MSEL and has a 75% majority representation on the board
but through the shareholders’ agreement there are a
number of decisions that require the unanimous consent
of all the shareholders. The Directors have assessed that
the decisions that require unanimous consent give
protective rights only and that the control of the day to
day operating decisions and strategic financial decisions is
retained by the Group. Therefore, the Directors consider
that MSEL is a subsidiary of the Company and the results
of MSEL are included in the Group consolidated financial
statements. 

(ii) Qualification of Group as a Public Benefit Entity

Assessing whether the Group qualifies as a Public Benefit
Entity requires judgment. The Directors have reviewed the
definition of a public benefit entity, as provided by the
FRS102 Glossary of Terms, and consider that this has been
met as the primary objective of the Group is to promote,
foster, encourage, control and improve rugby football
throughout Wales with any wealth created by the Group,
given its legal status, being re-invested back into Welsh
Rugby rather than providing a financial return to its

members. Therefore, the Directors have adopted the
FRS102 public benefit entity standards when preparing the
Group consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Acting as principal in respect of competition
income 

Assessing whether the Group acts as agent or principal in
the receipt of competition incomes requires judgment. The
Group receives revenue from the organisers of
competitions in which the Regions participate, namely the
Pro 12, the European Champions Cup and the European
Challenge Cup. The net revenue is passed on to the
Regions. The Group assessed the factors presented in the
respective agreements with the Regions and the
competition providers and concluded that its ability to
establish the commercial returns and to perform its
contractual commitment to determine the competition
participants provided sufficient evidence that it is the
principal in the transaction with the relevant competition
provider.  

y. Key accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment in the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below. 

(i) Carrying value of the Company’s investment in
MSEL (note 10)

The Company holds a significant investment in MSEL. The
Company considers whether the carrying value of this
investment is appropriate by estimating the net present
value of expected future cashflows from the investment.
The estimation of the net present value of future cashflows
requires a combination of assumptions including revenues
and costs, together with the discount rate used. 

(ii) Impairment of intangible asset (note 8)

The Group considers whether intangible assets are
impaired. Where an indication of impairment is identified
the estimation of recoverable value requires estimation of
the recoverable value of the cash generating units (CGUs).
This requires estimation of the future cash flows from the
CGUs and also selection of appropriate discount rates in
order to calculate the net present value of those cash
flows.

2. Business Analysis

All income is derived from activities within the UK. The information below is provided as additional information.  

(a) Turnover 2016 2015
£’m £’m

Turnover is analysed as follows:
Match income 27.9 35.4
Commercial income 12.3 10.4
Hospitality and catering income 11.4 8.2
Other event income 5.4 1.3
Other income 6.6 1.4

63.6 56.7
Competition income 9.7 8.1

73.3 64.8

Turnover for 2015 has been restated to gross up commercial income which had previously been shown net of certain direct costs. This
has no impact on operating profit. 

Other event income represents amounts receivable in respect of staging fees and other similar income arising within Principality Stadium
for events which are not promoted by the Company. In 2016, other income includes £4.7m (2015: £nil) in respect of a grant from the
International Rugby Board Trust and £0.6m (2015: £0.5m) of grants received from Sport Wales, matched by expenditure included in
community rugby costs.

Competition income represents amounts received from European Professional Club Rugby (“EPCR”), and Celtic Rugby Limited in
consideration for the participation of teams nominated by the Group in the respective tournaments of those entities. To the extent that
the nominated teams have participated in those tournaments there is, under the terms of the participation agreements with the
nominated teams, an obligation on the Group to remit any competition income, less any costs incurred by the Group in respect of the
competitions, to them.

(b) Total costs are as follows: 2016 2015
£’m £’m

Operational costs (see (c) below) 43.1 34.5
Exceptional items (see note 4) (0.2) (10.0)
Depreciation and amortisation– net of grant release 3.7 3.5
Allocations to affiliated organisations (see (d) below) 25.2 22.6

71.8 50.6

(c) Operational costs: 2016 2015
£’m £’m

Business and administration 7.1 6.7
Direct 16.8 11.7
Hospitality and catering costs 6.0 3.6
Elite rugby 4.3 4.3
Community rugby 3.6 2.8
Stadium 5.3 5.4

43.1 34.5

(d) Allocations to affiliated organisations 2016 2015
These are analysed as follows: £’m £’m

Competition income (see note 2(a)) 9.7 8.1
National Dual Contracts (see note 5) 2.1 2.0
Directly from Company 7.5 7.1
Regions – professional rugby 19.3 17.2
Clubs – semi-professional rugby 1.6 1.4
Clubs – community rugby and affiliates 4.3 4.0

25.2 22.6
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4. Profit on ordinary activities before tax (continued)

During the year, the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor:
2016 2015
£’000 £’000

Fees payable to the Company auditor for the audit of the parent company and 24 66
consolidated financial statements
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services:
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 23 28
Taxation compliance services 19 26
Other non-audit services 25 35

5. Staff numbers and costs

Staff numbers 2016 2015 2016 2015
Group Group Company Company

The monthly average number of employees, including directors
with a service contract, during the year was:

Management and administration 70 69 38 38
Direct 22 24 20 21
Elite rugby 31 29 31 29
Community rugby 54 53 54 53
Stadium 35 36 - -

212 211 143 141

The above staff numbers do not include any players representing national teams (including those on National Dual Contracts), stewards
engaged for events nor do they include the non-executive Directors of the Company.  

Staff costs 2016 2015 2016 2015
Group Group Company Company
£’m £’m £’m £’m

The staff costs during the year were as follows:

Wages and salaries 7.9 7.9 5.8 5.8
Social security costs 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.7
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.5

9.5 9.4 7.1 7.0

The above numbers do not include costs in respect of National Dual Contracted players. The total costs of these players for the provision
of their services (including commercial obligations) amounted to £3.2m (2015: £2.1m), for which a contribution of £1.2m (2015: £0.8m)
was received from the Regions. Under the terms of the Rugby Services Agreement with the Regions, the Group is required to remit any
surplus from the £2.1m allocated for National Dual Contracted players to the Regions. The balance of £0.1m was therefore due to the
Regions and a total of £2.1m was therefore attributed to the National Dual Contracted players’ element of Regions allocations (note
2(d)).

In addition to the above amounts, £4.4m (2015: £1.9m) is paid as remuneration to players whilst representing the National Squad.
These costs are included in Direct costs within Operational costs (see Note 2 (c)).

3. Financing costs
2016 2015
£’m £’m

Interest payable and similar charges
Interest payable on bank and similar loans 0.7 0.8
Bank charges 0.2 0.5
Total 0.9 1.3

4. Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
2016 2015

Note £’m £’m

Depreciation on owned assets 9 5.3 5.1
Amortisation of intangible assets 8 0.3 0.3
Release of deferred income (grant release) (1.9) (1.9)
Net charge to the income statement 3.7 3.5
Rental of land and buildings 0.4 0.4
Exceptional items Note

Rebate from business rates reassessment (a) (0.3) -
Restructuring costs (b) 0.1 -
Tranche C Loan released in exchange for one share (c) - (10.0)
Total exceptional items (0.2) (10.0)

During the current and previous year, the Group incurred charges that due to their size and nature were considered “exceptional”. In
order to assist in understanding the Group’s results the Directors believe that it was appropriate to show separately the operating profit
of the Group before exceptional items on the face of the income statement as additional information. Detailed commentary is shown
below:

2016:

(a) Following the 2005 and 2010 rateable value assessments, the Group challenged the value ascribed to the pitches and indoor arena
at the WRU National Centre of Excellence. The Group received notification during the year that this challenge had been successful.
The revised assessment resulted in lower business rates charges for the period 2005 to 2016. Refunds that have been received in
respect of overcharged rates for the period 2005 to 2015 were treated as exceptional income.

(b) The Group incurred restructuring costs that were considered exceptional.

2015:

(c) During 2015 the Tranche C Loan of £10m that was previously owed by the Group was released in exchange for the issue of one
share in Millennium Stadium plc. The fair value of this share is assessed at £1, which is equivalent to the par value, and therefore
the resulting gain has been treated as exceptional income.
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6. Income tax (continued)
2016 2015
£’m £’m

(b) Tax expense included in other comprehensive income

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (0.1) -
Total deferred tax credit in other comprehensive income (0.1) -

(c) Reconciliation of tax charge

The current tax assessed for the year is higher (2015: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.0% (2015:
20.75%). The differences are explained below:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 0.6 12.9
Profit multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20.0% (2015: 20.75%) 0.1 2.7
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes and income not taxable 0.3 (2.0)
Tax rate changes (0.2) -
Adjustments in respect of previous period – corporation tax 0.1 (0.1)
Total tax charge for year (Note 6(a)) 0.3 0.6

Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were announced in the Chancellor's Budget on 8 July 2015. These include reductions to the
main rate to reduce the rate to 19% from 1 April 2017 and to 18% from 1 April 2020. The changes were substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and therefore their effects are included in these financial statements.

The March 2016 Budget Statement announced a further change to the UK Corporation tax rate which will now reduce the main rate
of corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020. As the change has not been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date, its effects
are not included in these financial statements. The overall effect of this change, if it had applied to the deferred tax balance at the
balance sheet date, would be to reduce the deferred tax liability by approximately £0.1m and reduce the tax expense for the period by
approximately £0.1m.

Accordingly, the deferred tax balance has been calculated using a rate of 18%.

7. Profit of the Company 

The Company has not presented its own income statement, as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The profit before
and after tax for the financial year in respect of the Company was £3.9m and £3.8m (2015: £7.3m and £6.5m) respectively.

5. Staff numbers and costs (continued)

Directors’ emoluments 2016 2015
£’000 £’000

The directors’ emoluments during the year were as follows:
• Aggregate emoluments 406 399
• Benefits 22 19
• Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme - -

428 418

The emoluments above include fees of £64,000 (2015: £44,000 – two chairmen) payable to the Chairman. The Group received £14,000
(2015: £14,000) from third parties in respect of the above emoluments. There is one Director accruing benefits under a defined
contribution pension scheme (2015: one). 

Emoluments of the highest paid director 2016 2015
£’000 £’000

The emoluments of the highest paid director, during the year, were as follows:
Aggregate emoluments 223 349
Benefits 31 13

254 362

The emoluments of the highest paid director in 2016 relate to the period from October 2015 to June 2016, being the period of service
in the year. The amount in 2015 is a full year cost.

Key management compensation

Key management includes certain directors and the Executive Board. The compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services, including the amounts shown as Directors’ emoluments above, is shown below:

2016 2015
£’000 £’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 1,298 1,157
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 131 128

1,429 1,285

6. Income tax
2016 2015
£’m £’m

(a) Tax expense included in the income statement

Current tax
UK corporation tax on result for the year 0.5 0.8
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0.1 (0.1)
Total current tax charge 0.6 0.7

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (0.1) (0.1)
Changes in tax rates and laws (0.2) -
Total deferred tax (0.3) (0.1)

Total tax charge on profit on ordinary activities (Note 6(c)) 0.3 0.6
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8. Intangible fixed assets

Hospitality Group
Catering Rights Total

£’m £’m
Cost 
At 1 July 2015 and 30 June 2016 3.3 3.3

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2015 0.3 0.3
Charge for the year 0.3 0.3
At 30 June 2016 0.6 0.6

Net book value
At 30 June 2016 2.7 2.7
At 30 June 2015 3.0 3.0

9. Tangible fixed assets

Centre of Other Other  Group Company
Stadium Excellence buildings Land fixed assets Total Total

£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m £’m £’m
Cost 
At 1 July 2015 138.8 3.4 1.7 37.6 7.1 188.6 40.1
Additions - - - - 0.7 0.7 -
Disposals - - - - (0.5) (0.5) -
At 30 June 2016 138.8 3.4 1.7 37.6 7.3 188.8 40.1

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 July 2015 56.8 1.5 1.3 - 3.4 63.0 1.7
Charge for the year 3.9 0.3 0.1 - 1.0 5.3 0.1
Disposals - - - - (0.5) (0.5) -
At 30 June 2016 60.7 1.8 1.4 - 3.9 67.8 1.8

Net book value
At 30 June 2016 78.1 1.6 0.3 37.6 3.4 121.0 38.3

At 30 June 2015 82.0 1.9 0.4 37.6 3.7 125.6 38.5

Included in the cost of the stadium are cumulative capitalised interest costs of £4.6m (2015: £4.6m). The depreciation charge includes
an amount of £0.1m (2015: £0.1m) representing the depreciation of interest previously capitalised.  

Other fixed assets comprise plant and machinery and fixtures and fittings. The tangible fixed assets of the Company predominantly
relate to land.

All land and buildings held by the Group within tangible fixed assets are freehold assets.

10. Investments

The Group holds no material investments.

The Company held a £50,000 equity investment in Millennium Stadium plc, a £10,000 equity investment in WRU National Centre of
Excellence Limited and a £16,500,000 equity investment in Millennium Stadium Experience Limited at both 30 June 2016 and 30 June
2015. All investments are held at historical cost.

Subsidiary and other investments held directly by the Company and in which the Company has a beneficial interest as at 30 June 2016
were:

10. Investments (continued)

Company Principal activity Country of % holding of 
incorporation ordinary shares

Subsidiaries:
Millennium Stadium plc Stadia operation United Kingdom 100%
Millennium Stadium Experience Limited Hospitality and catering provision United Kingdom 83.5%
WRU Supporters Club Limited Marketing United Kingdom 100%
WRU National Centre of Excellence Limited Provision of training facilities United Kingdom 100%
Other investments:
Six Nations Rugby Limited Competition management Republic of Ireland 17%
Celtic Rugby Designated Activity Company Competition management Republic of Ireland 33%
British Lions Designated Activity Company Overseas rugby tours Republic of Ireland 25%
Great Britain Rugby Sevens Limited Olympic Sevens competition United Kingdom 33%

The above investments were the same as at 30 June 2015, save that the Company also held 17% of the ordinary shares of European
Rugby Cup Limited, which has now been dissolved.

In addition to the shareholdings above the Company is one of nine members of European Professional Club Rugby, a Swiss association
whose principal activity is managing the relevant European club competitions. 

Given the disposition of the other investments, the Group’s inability to exercise significant influence over the investments above with
less than 100% shareholdings and the immateriality of their net surpluses and net assets after receipt of income by the Group in the
other investments above, the Directors do not believe that these investments fall to be treated as associate companies. Fixed asset
investments are stated at the lower of cost and valuation.

The Group’s bankers hold one share in Millennium Stadium plc (2015: one share) and this share has the same rights as the shares held
by the Company. In addition, Cardiff County Council (“CCC”) holds one share in Millennium Stadium plc (2015: one share); this share
grants only certain rights and does not grant CCC any dividends nor any rights to amounts receivable upon winding up.

11. Stock Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Goods for resale 0.8 0.7 - -
Raw materials 0.1 - - -

0.9 0.7 - -

The amount of stock recognised as an expense in the year is £3.4m (2015: £1.6m).

12. Debtors
Amounts due within one year: Group Group Company Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Trade debtors 3.1 3.8 2.1 3.0
Loans due from clubs 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
Loans due from Regions 2.6 1.3 2.6 1.3
Less: provision for impairment of receivables (0.7) (0.8) (0.7) (0.7)

5.7 5.0 4.7 4.3
Prepayments and other debtors 1.8 2.5 1.2 1.5

7.5 7.5 5.9 5.8
Amounts due after more than one year:
Amounts owed by Group undertakings - - 48.9 51.1

Total debtors 7.5 7.5 54.8 56.9

The amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and have no fixed dates of repayment. An interest charge at equivalent
rates to the bank loan arrangements is levied on outstanding amounts due from subsidiary undertakings. 

The carrying amount of debtors is a reasonable approximation of fair value and the carrying amounts of the Group’s debtors are all
denominated in pounds sterling (“GBP”).
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14. Creditors (continued)

Debentures have been treated as public benefit entity concessionary loans as they were received below the prevailing market rate of
interest and for the purpose of furthering the primary objective of the Group.

Security provided on bank loans

Bank loans totalling £11.2m (2015: £17.3m) are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries.

Borrowing facilities

The Group had £15.2m (2015: £9.0m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 30 June 2016 in respect of which all
conditions precedent had been met at that date. 

Debenture loans are repayable in: Group Group
2016 2015
£’m £’m

2021 0.4 0.4
2024 11.6 11.6
2026 0.5 0.5
2027 2.4 2.4
2028 0.3 0.3
2030 4.8 4.8
2035 1.8 1.8
2050 15.9 15.9

37.7 37.7
Unamortised issue costs (0.1) (0.1)

37.6 37.6
All debenture loans are unsecured and bear no interest.  

Bank and debenture loans repayable by instalments wholly or partly after 5 years

Bank loans, with a total value of £11.2m (2015: £17.3m), are repayable wholly or partly from the balance sheet date by instalments.
Of these amounts, £nil (2015: £nil) is repayable after five years.  

Concessionary debenture loans, with a total value of £37.7m (2015: 37.7m), are repayable wholly from the balance sheet date. Of
these amounts, £37.3m (2015: £37.3m) is repayable after five years.  

15. Financial instruments

Treasury policy

Treasury activity is focused on monitoring working capital, managing external funding and managing interest rate risk. Treasury activity
is not a profit centre and the Group neither enters into transactions of a speculative nature nor trades in financial instruments. Treasury
risk management policies are summarised below:

• Foreign exchange risk – where applicable, the Group mitigates foreign exchange risk with the use of forward contracts. As at
30 June 2016 the Group had no material foreign exchange risk (2015: £nil).

• Interest rate risk – operations are financed through a mixture of bank borrowings and concessionary loans. The Group currently
borrows in floating rates of interest and uses derivative financial instruments to generate the desired interest profile and to manage
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

• Liquidity risk – the Group’s policy is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility.  As at 30 June 2016,
24% (2015: 31%) of borrowings were due to mature within five years, some 40% (2015: 28%) were due to mature between
five years and fifteen years and some 36% (2015: 41%) were due to mature after fifteen years.. 

13. Cash at bank and in hand

Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Cash balance at bank 0.2 3.1 0.3 3.0

14. Creditors

Amounts falling due within one year: Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Bank loans 6.1 12.2 6.1 12.2
Trade creditors 1.8 1.6 0.7 0.4
Amounts owed to Group undertakings - - 1.0 2.0
Corporation tax 0.2 0.4 - 0.3
Other tax and social security 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.3
Other creditors 0.6 0.7 0.2 0.2
Accruals and deferred income 15.9 14.7 10.2 11.8

25.1 30.0 18.7 27.2

Amounts falling due after more than one year: Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Bank loans 5.1 5.1 5.1 5.1
Debentures 37.6 37.6 37.6 37.6
Derivative financial liability (note 15) 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

43.0 42.9 43.0 42.9

Maturity analysis:

Bank loans are due: Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Within one year 6.1 12.2 6.1 12.2
Between one and two years 1.2 1.3 1.2 1.3
Between two and five years 3.9 3.8 3.9 3.8

11.2 17.3 11.2 17.3

The principal terms of these loans are set out below: 

Bank loans Interest and capital repayment terms 2016 2015
£’m £’m

Revolving credit facility LIBOR plus 2.95%, loan repayable on maturity date 4.8 11.0
Facility A LIBOR plus 2.95%, loan repayment in instalments by 2019 3.8 5.0
Facility B – Regions Loan LIBOR plus 2.95%, loan repayment in instalments by 2020 2.6 1.3

11.2 17.3

The principal terms of the bank loans shown above relate to the primary instrument and do not take account of derivative instruments. 

Interest on amounts drawn on the revolving credit facility is referenced to the LIBOR rate applicable to the draw period. At 30 June
2016 the revolving credit facility was drawn for a period of 1 month.  Interest on the Facility A loan is re-priced every 3 months and
referenced to 3 month LIBOR. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings, which include bank loans and debenture loans, approximate their fair value. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are all denominated in GBP.
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15. Financial instruments (continued)

At 30 June 2016 the notional principal amounts of derivatives were £9.9m and are analysed as follows:

Notional Fair market Maturity 
amount value date

£’m £’m

Interest rate cap 1.25% 9.9 - 30 June 2019

At 30 June 2015 the notional principal amounts of derivatives were £9.5m and are analysed as follows:

Notional Fair market Maturity 
amount value date

£’m £’m

Interest rate cap 3.75% 9.5 - 30 June 2018

Interest rate floor 2.10% 9.5 (0.2) 30 June 2018

During the years to 30 June 2016 and June 2015, the Group’s derivatives qualified for hedge accounting under FRS102. These derivatives
are carried at fair value as analysed below:

Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Interest rate floor - (0.2) - (0.2)
Derivative financial liability - (0.2) - (0.2)

16. Accruals and deferred income

Grants Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

At start of year 37.2 37.5 - -
Amounts repaid (0.1) (0.1) - -
Amounts received 0.2 1.7 - -
Released to the income statement (1.9) (1.9) - -
At end of year 35.4 37.2 - -

During the year some £1.9m (2015: £1.9m) was released to the income statement from the grants amount shown above.

Included within the grants amount above is an amount received from the Big Lottery Fund (formerly the Millennium Commission)
amounting to £26.0m (2015: £27.2m).  This grant will be released to the income statement as follows:

Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Within one year 1.2 1.2 - -
Between one and two years 1.2 1.2 - -
Between two and five years 3.6 3.6 - -
In more than five years 20.0 21.2 - -

26.0 27.2 - -

In certain circumstances, the above grant can become repayable if the Group fails to meet the monitoring requirements of the grant.
The Group is currently in full compliance with the monitoring requirements such that no monies are repayable under the terms of the
grant.

15. Financial instruments (continued)

The Group and Company have the following financial instruments:

Note Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Financial assets that are debt instruments 
measured at amortised cost:
• Trade debtors 12 2.4 3.0 1.4 2.3
• Loans due from Regions 12 2.6 1.3 2.6 1.3
• Loans due from clubs 12 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7
• Other debtors 12 0.8 0.7 0.8 0.5
• Amounts owed by Group undertakings 12 - - 48.9 51.1

6.5 5.7 54.4 55.9

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income:
• Derivative financial instruments - 0.3 - 0.3

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
• Bank loans 14 11.2 17.3 11.2 17.3
• Trade creditors 14 1.8 1.6 0.7 0.4
• Amounts owed to Group undertakings 14 - - 1.0 2.0
• Other creditors and accruals 14 13.6 11.9 9.8 9.4

26.6 30.8 22.7 29.1

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
• Derivative financial instruments 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2

Derivative financial instruments – forward contracts

The Group enters into forward foreign currency contracts to mitigate the exchange rate risk for certain future foreign currency
receivables. The forward currency contracts are measured at fair value, which is determined using valuation techniques that utilise
observable inputs. The key inputs used in valuing the derivatives are the forward exchange rates. The fair value of the forward-foreign
currency contracts is £0.3m loss (2015: £0.3m gain).

Cash flows on foreign exchange contracts are received annually. During 2016, a hedging loss of £0.3m (2015: £0.3m gain) was
recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the foreign exchange forward contracts and £0.3m (2015:
£0.1m) was reclassified from the hedge reserve to profit and loss reserve.

Derivative financial instruments – interest rate

During the year, the Group replaced its interest rate derivatives, which removed the floor and reduced the cap on its debt to 1.25%.
The cap is based on a current principal amount of £9.9m, equating to approximately 89% of the principal amount of the Group’s bank
debt at 30 June 2016, and matures in 2019. 

The derivative is used to hedge the Group’s exposure to interest rate movements on the bank debt. The derivative fixes the total interest
payable on a proportion of the bank debt at a maximum of 1.25%. The fair value of the interest rate derivative is £nil (2015: £0.2m).

Cash flows on interest rate derivatives are paid quarterly until 2019. Cash flows on the Facility A loan are paid quarterly until 2019.
Cash flows on the revolving credit facility are paid in line with the draw period. During 2016, a hedging loss of £0.1m (2015: £nil) was
recognised in other comprehensive income for changes in the fair value of the interest rate derivative and £nil (2015: £nil) was reclassified
from the hedge reserve to profit and loss reserve.
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19. Contingent liabilities (continued)

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of Celtic Rugby Limited in respect of certain financing received. The amounts
guaranteed are €0.1m (2015: nil).

The Group and Company are dealing with a small number of legal claims. The Directors have reviewed all of these claims and, on the
basis of legal advice received, believe that no provision is necessary. Consequently no provision for these claims has been included in
these financial statements.

It is currently impracticable to make any additional disclosures in relation to estimates financial effects, their timing and the possibility
of any reimbursement.

20. Commitments

The Group and Company had no capital commitments at 30 June 2016 or 30 June 2015.

Operating lease commitments: 

At the balance sheet date, the Group had the following future minimum lease payments, under non-cancellable operating leases for
each of the following periods:

2016 2015
£’m £’m

Land and buildings; within
• One year 0.4 0.4
• One to two years 0.4 0.4
• Two to five years 1.2 1.2
• More than five years 4.8 4.5

21. Pension costs 

The Group operates defined contribution schemes. The assets of the defined contribution pension schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, under independent administration. The pension cost charge for these schemes represents contributions payable
by the Group to the schemes in the year amounting to some £0.7m (2015: £0.7m). There are no material amounts included in creditors
in respect of these pension costs in 2016 or 2015.

22. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
2016 2015
£’m £’m

EBITDA 30.2 30.3
Allocations to affiliated organisations (25.2) (22.6)
Exceptional items 0.2 10.0
Depreciation and amortisation (5.6) (5.4)
Release of deferred income 1.9 1.9
Operating profit 1.5 14.2

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 5.6 5.4
Release of deferred income (1.9) (1.9)
Exceptional item - (10.0)

3.7 (6.5)

Working capital adjustments:
Increase in stock (0.2) (0.4)
Decrease in debtors - 0.6
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 1.4 (1.7)

1.2 (1.5)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 6.4 6.2

17. Provisions for liabilities

Deferred tax

The movement on deferred tax is as follows: Group Group Company Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
£’m £’m £’m £’m

Liability/(asset) at start of the year 1.5 1.6 (0.1) (0.1)
Released to the profit and loss account (0.3) (0.1) - -
Tax on components of other comprehensive income (0.1) - (0.1) -
At end of the year 1.1 1.5 (0.2) (0.1)

Deferred tax provided/(recognised) is made up as follows:

Accelerated capital allowances 1.3 1.6 - -
Derivative financial instruments (0.2) - (0.1) -
Other timing differences - (0.1) (0.1) 0.1

1.1 1.5 (0.2) (0.1)

The Group’s net deferred tax liability expected to reverse in the next 12 months is £0.1m. This primarily relates to the reversal of timing
differences on fixed assets offset by expected tax deductions on short term timing differences (including amounts deductible for tax
purposes on a paid basis). 

The Company’s net deferred tax asset expected to reverse in the next 12 months is £0.1m. This primarily relates to the reversal of timing
differences on amounts deductible on a paid basis.

18. Company limited by guarantee

The liability of the members is limited. Every member of the Company undertakes to contribute such amounts as may be required (not
exceeding £1) to the Company’s assets if it should be wound up while the member is a member, or within one year after a member
ceases to be a member, for payment of the Company’s liabilities contracted before a member ceased to be a member. At the balance
sheet date the number of members was 333 (2015: 334).

19. Contingent liabilities  

Group

The Group had the following contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016:

• The Group has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have received from
Barclays Bank PLC. The amounts due are £1.0m (2015: £1.0m).

• The Group has guaranteed the performance of the four Regions in respect of loans that the Regions have received from Barclays
Bank PLC. The amounts guaranteed are £0.5m (2015: nil).

• The Group has guaranteed the performance of Celtic Rugby Limited in respect of certain financing received. The amounts guaranteed
are €0.1m (2015: nil).

Company

The Company had the following contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016:

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of one of its subsidiaries under the terms of grant arrangements amounting to £35.4m
(2015: £37.2m).

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of some member clubs in respect of loans that the member clubs have received from
Barclays Bank PLC. The amounts due are £1.0m (2015: £1.0m). 

• The Company has guaranteed the performance of the four Regions in respect of loans that the Regions have received from Barclays
Bank PLC. The amounts guaranteed are £0.5m (2015: nil).



INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF
THE WELSH RUGBY UNION LIMITED

THE WELSH RUGBY UNION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2016 65THE WELSH RUGBY UNION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 201664

23. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2016 2015
£’m £’m

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (2.9) 3.0
Cash outflow/(inflow) from movement in debt 6.1 (2.3)
Non-cash changes - 10.0
Decrease in net debt during the year 3.2 10.7
Net debt at the beginning of the year (51.8) (62.5)
Net debt at the end of the year (48.6) (51.8)

24. Analysis of net debt

Bank debt Bank debt
due within due after

Cash one year one year Debentures Total
£’m £’m £’m £’m £’m

At 1 July 2015 3.1 (12.2) (5.1) (37.6) (51.8)
Cashflow (2.9) 7.4 (1.3) - 3.2
Non-cash changes - (1.3) 1.3 - -
At 30 June 2016 0.2 (6.1) (5.1) (37.6) (48.6)

At 1 July 2014 0.1 (7.8) (17.2) (37.6) (62.5)
Cashflow 3.0 (4.4) 2.1 - 0.7
Non-cash changes - - 10.0 - 10.0
At 30 June 2015 3.1 (12.2) (5.1) (37.6) (51.8)

25. Related party transactions

In accordance with the exemption afforded by paragraph 33.1A of FRS102, ‘related party transactions’, there is no disclosure in these
financial statements of transactions with entities that are part of the Group.

See note 5 for disclosure of the Directors’ remuneration and key management compensation.

NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Report on the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, The Welsh Rugby Union Limited’s group
financial statements and company financial statements (the
“financial statements”):

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and
of the company’s affairs as at 30 June 2016 and of the
group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements comprise:

• the Consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 30
June 2016;

• the Consolidated income statement and Consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

• the Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended;

• the Consolidated and Company statement of changes in
equity for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
the preparation of the financial statements is United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), and applicable law.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors
have made a number of subjective judgements, for example
in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such
estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future
events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report
and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and
explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion:

• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit; or

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the company financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this
responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to
you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no
exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the
audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’
responsibilities set out on page 39, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs
(UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK &
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Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of: 

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
group’s and the company’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the directors; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the
directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the
financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other
auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We
obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of
controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Annual Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to
identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Jason Clarke BSc ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cardiff

27 September 2016

Patron and Office Bearers:

Patron
Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II

Vice Patron
His Royal Highness The Duke of Cambridge

President 
Dennis Gethin OBE

Governance of Welsh rugby

The principal activity of the Group is to promote rugby to
encourage more people to engage with the game, more
often, with more enjoyment and more success. The Board of
The Welsh Rugby Union Limited (the “Board”) is responsible
for ensuring that the principal activity is managed, which it
does through the Executive Board. The Board comprises of 19
non-executive Directors and one executive Director. Of the 19
non-executive Directors, 17 are elected and two are
appointments made by the Board. The non-executive
Chairman of the Board is elected from the non-executive
Directors.  

The Board of Directors of The Welsh Rugby Union
Limited 

Non-executive Chairman:
Gareth Davies 

Executive:
Martyn Phillips (Group Chief Executive) (appointed

on 1 November 2015). Roger Lewis
(resigned on 31 October 2015)

Non-executive:

Alan Jones (vice non-executive Chairman)
(appointed as vice non-executive
Chairman on 6 October 2015)

Kenneth Hewitt (vice non-executive Chairman until 6
October 2015) (resigned as a Director
on 29 November 2015) 

Mal Beynon (resigned on 20 August 2015)

Anthony Buchanan

Gwyn Bowden (appointed on 4 October 2015)

Martin Davies

Geraint Edwards

Gordon Eynon

Humphrey Evans (resigned on 4 October 2015)

Brian Fowler

Robert Butcher (appointed on 4 October 2015)

Tim Griffin

Bryn Parker (appointed on 23 February 2016)

Russell Howell (resigned on 4 October 2015)

Anthony John

Alwyn Jones

Ian Jeffery (appointed on 4 October 2015)

Chris Morgan

Aileen Richards

Phil Thomas

Ray Wilton

David Young

Company Secretary
Gareth Williams

Welsh Rugby Union Group – Executive Board

Chairman: 
Martyn Phillips (Group Chief Executive) as of 

1 November 2015). Roger Lewis
(Group Chief Executive) until 31
October 2015.  

Executive:

Geraint John Head of Rugby Performance
(appointed on 1 February 2016)

Ryan Jones Head of Rugby Participation
(appointed on 15 February 2016)
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Mark Killingley Head of Digital and Communications
(appointed on 18 May 2016)

Rhodri Lewis Head of Legal Affairs

Josh Lewsey Head of Rugby 
(resigned on 31 December 2015)

Craig Maxwell Head of Group Sales and Marketing

Julie Paterson Head of Rugby Operations

Steve Phillips Group Finance Director 

John Williams Head of Communications 
(resigned on 31 December 2015)

Mark Williams Stadium Manager

Board Committees

During the year, the Board operated sub-committees to assist
in its business. The role and membership of the sub-
committees were as follows: 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee, chaired by
Aileen Richards (was appointed as chair from 6 October 2015),
comprises Gareth Davies (was chairman until 6 October 2015),
Martin Davies, Alan Jones and Ian Jeffery (appointed on 15
December 2015). Whilst not a member, Martyn Phillips is
invited to attend the Committee. The Appointments and
Remuneration Committee determines, on behalf of the Board,
the remuneration and terms and conditions of the Group
Chief Executive and the Executive Board. The Committee also
participates in, reviews and recommends Executive
appointments to the Board. The Committee relies on expert
independent professional advice when deemed necessary.

Audit and Risk Committee, chaired by Tim Griffin (was
appointed as chairman from 6 October 2015), comprised
Martin Davies (was chairman until 6 October 2015) and David
Young (appointed on 3 June 2016) and included Dyfrig John
and Geraint Davies as non-Board members. The Audit and
Risk Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
discharge its responsibilities for accounting policies, financial
reporting, internal control and risk management and liaising
with the Group’s auditors. 

Finance Committee, chaired by Martin Davies, comprised
Gareth Davies, Martyn Phillips (appointed on 6 October 2015),
Kenneth Hewitt (resigned on 29 November 2015), Roger
Lewis (resigned on 6 October 2015), Humphrey Evans
(resigned on 4 October 2015), Ian Jeffery (appointed on 6
October 2015), Chris Morgan (appointed on 6 October 2015),
Tim Griffin (appointed on 6 October 2015), Aileen Richards
(appointed on 6 October 2015) and Steve Phillips. The Finance
Committee is responsible for all financial matters of the
Group, other than dealing with the Group’s auditors.

Regulatory Committee, chaired by David Young (appointed
as chairman on 12 November 2015), comprised Mal Beynon
(was chairman until resignation on 20 August 2015), Geraint
Edwards, Gordon Eynon (resigned on 6 October 2015), Brian
Fowler, Russell Howell (resigned on 4 October 2015), Chris
Morgan, Bryn Parker (appointed on 23 February 2016), Gwyn
Bowden (appointed on 6 October 2015), Alan Jones
(appointed on 6 October 2015), Ian Jeffrey (appointed on 6
October 2015 and resigned on 15 December 2015), Ray
Wilton, and Julie Paterson. The Regulatory Committee is
responsible for disciplinary matters and the management of
all leagues and cup competitions in operation.

Rugby Committee, chaired by Anthony Buchanan
(appointed as chairman on 6 October 2015), comprised Alan
Jones (was chairman until 6 October 2015), Phil Thomas,
Anthony John, Alwyn Jones, Gordon Eynon (appointed on 6
October 2015), Robert Butcher (appointed on 6 October
2015) and David Young (resigned on 6 October 2015). In
addition, non-Board members of the Rugby Committee
included Ryan Jones (appointed on 15 February 2016), Josh
Lewsey (resigned on 31 December 2015), Mike Rein, Ian
Parker, and Martyn Ryan. Each of Mike Rein, Ian Parker and
Martyn Ryan attend the Rugby Committee on a periodic basis
depending on the meeting agenda. In addition, various
employees attend the Rugby Committee on a periodic basis
depending on the meeting agenda. The Rugby Committee is
responsible for the development of the game at all levels,
including age groups, coaching and referees.  

Development of corporate governance 

Both the Board and the Executive Board remain committed to
the continuing development of governance structures, in
order to meet the evolving needs of the game of rugby union.

The Board and the Executive Board acknowledge the value of
the principles of good governance. The Group is committed
to adopting the principles of best practice in corporate
governance. The Group will ensure that each member of the
Board undergoes training in the role of the non-executive
Director to be delivered by an appropriate organisation (such
as the Institute of Directors). The Group is committed to
further training and development of the Board.

During the year, the Board committed to sign-up to the
Governance and Leadership Framework for Wales (the
“Framework”). This means that the Board is considering the
implementing the Principles and Behaviours of the Framework
in a way that fits the Group and to maintaining and improving
good governance and leadership in the Group.     

Board and Executive Board

There is a clear division of responsibility between the role of
non-executive Chairman and Group Chief Executive. There is
a detailed limit of authority protocol in place for both the
Board and the Executive Board. All Executive Board members
have detailed job descriptions in addition to limits of authority.

The Board meets on a monthly basis and considers all matters
under its terms of reference which include the development

and monitoring of the Group’s strategic plan, allocation of
financial resources, reviewing the performance of the Group
Chief Executive and Executive Board and approval of annual
budgets. In addition, the Board considers the recommendation
of the Board’s standing sub-committees, whose
responsibilities are as explained above.

Remuneration of the Board 

Under the Group’s remuneration policy, no fees are payable
to non-executive Board members, other than the non-
executive Chairman who receives an annual fee of £50,000.

In addition, the Board is represented on other rugby bodies
including World Rugby, Six Nations Rugby Limited, European
Pro Club Rugby, European Rugby Cup Limited, British Lions
Limited and Celtic Rugby Limited all/some of whom have a
policy of financially compensating the representatives serving
on these bodies. No Executive Director or member of the
Executive Board retain any such compensation from these
bodies.

Registered office

Principality Stadium
Westgate Street
Cardiff 
CF10 1NS
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Non Executive Chairman
Gareth Davies 

Joined the Board in 2014 as a national representative and was elected as Chairman in the same year.
He is a member of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee and the Finance Committee. He
is also chairman of the board of the Millennium Stadium plc, a member of the World Rugby Council
and the Six Nations Council, a director of Six Nations Rugby Limited and British Lions Designated
Activity Company and is on the board of EPCR. 

A former international fly-half and British and Irish Lions tourist in 1980, he earned 21 caps for his
country and captained Wales on five occasions. 

He has held senior executive positions with the Newport Gwent Dragons, CBI Wales, BBC Wales,
Cardiff RFC, S4C, the Sports Council for Wales, the Royal Mail and the Welsh Development Agency –
where he headed the Sydney, Australia office – and is a former Dean of the Carnegie Faculty at Leeds
Metropolitan University.

Executive
Martyn Phillips
Group Chief Executive

Appointed as Group Chief Executive in July 2015, he took up the post in the autumn of the same
year. He is a member of the Finance Committee.

He is a member of the Six Nations Council, a director of British Lions Designated Activity Company
and Celtic Rugby Designated Activity Company.

He was formerly CEO of B&Q and a non-executive director of Hydrogen Group plc. 

In 2013 he was awarded an Honorary Doctorate from Southampton Solent University for services to
business. He was educated at Fishguard Grammar School and UWIC in Cardiff before studying at both
Oxford Brookes College and then Templeton College, Oxford.

                                       Whilst at school he won Wales international caps at U15 level and was a member of the Welsh Schools
U18 squad before going on to represent Welsh Colleges. 

Non Executive Vice Chairman
Alan Jones

Joined the Board in 2003, represents District D and is a member of the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee, Rugby Committee and the Regulatory Committee.

He played for Birmingham University and Bryncoch which he also captained. He is a life member of
the club having been club secretary for over 20 years. He was also the club’s chairman for 10 years.

He was an IT specialist for Wales Gas, BP and BT. He has also carried out volunteer work for the Age
Concern charity helping elderly people learn IT skills.

Anthony Buchanan

Joined the Board in 2014 as a national representative, he chairs the Rugby Committee and is a member
of the World Rugby Council.  

He is a former Wales prop forward, who won five caps, including during the first Rugby World Cup in
1987. He played over 230 times for Llanelli, before later becoming team manager in 1991 seeing the
club through the transition from amateur to professional rugby during over 30 years of service.  

He originally worked as a colliery fitter before changing roles for a management position in a chemical
company.

Gwyn Bowden

Joined the Board on 4 October 2015, represents District B and is a member of the Regulatory
Committee.

He played School and Youth rugby for Whitchurch, before joining Taff's Well Youth where he went on
to play for the 1st XV and was later fixture secretary and chairman and is a life member. He also played
for Beddau and Rhiwbina. 

He became a WRU Referee in 1980 and progressed to premier grade before retiring in 1999, later
becoming a referees adviser/coach. During this period he was also referees appointments officer for
Cardiff & District. In more recent times, he has officiated as a Citing Commissioner at games in the
PRO12, European Cup and internationals.

Now retired, he was self-employed in the manufacture of purpose made furniture and was a senior
design consultant for a national company.

Martin Davies

Joined the Board in 2003 as a national representative, he chairs the Finance Committee, and is a
member of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee.

He is a member of the Rugby Europe Committee and the board of Millennium Stadium plc.

He is a former player for Cardiff Youth and Glamorgan Wanderers and served as secretary of Crawshays
Welsh. 

He is a retired chartered accountant and worked for PriceWaterhouseCoopers, Standard Chartered
Banking Group and Hillsdown Holdings. He was also director of a private manufacturing company.
He was a Cardiff councillor for 29 years.
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Geraint Edwards

Joined the Board in 1993, represents District E and is a member of the Regulatory Committee.

He is a member of the board of the Millennium Stadium plc. 

He is a life member of Dunvant having been a member of the club for 55 years. He played for the
club’s youth and senior sides for 18 seasons before fulfilling the roles of fixture secretary for 25 years
and chairman for 10 years. 

He is a former tool maker with ICI and Ford and was part of the production management team at
British Leyland for over 25 years. He is now retired.

Gordon Eynon

Joined the Board in 2011, represents District H and is a member of the Rugby Committee. 

After playing youth rugby for Narberth, he represented Whitland, Gwernyfed, Breconshire, Carmarthen
Quins and Crymych at senior level. 

He was head coach at Crymych for three years before becoming Club Secretary in 1989, a position he
still holds today and is now a life member of the club. He has been a District H committee member
since 1995 and chaired the district from 2009 to 2011. 

He is a former schoolmaster and currently runs a farm in Pembrokeshire.  

Brian Fowler

Joined the Board in 2002, represents District F and is a member of the Regulatory Committee. 

He played rugby for St Luke’s College Exeter, Llanelli, Ammanford, Brynamman and Tycroes. He was
later secretary of Ammanford for 23 years.

Now retired, he was a local government officer for Carmarthenshire County Council, having previously
worked for the National Coal Board.

Robert Butcher

Joined the Board on 4 October 2015, represents District C and is a member of the Rugby Committee.

He is a one club man having been associated with Bargoed since leaving school in late 1960's. He was
the captain for five successive years in the mid to late 1970's.

Once his playing career ended, he joined the club's committee. With an unbroken service with his
beloved Bargoed, in 2015 he completed a 20th year as club honorary secretary.

On leaving college he took up a teaching post within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. He
recently retired as deputy headteacher at Cyfarthfa High School.

Tim Griffin

Joined the Board in 2015 as an non-elected independent non-executive director and is chair of the
Audit and Risk Committee and a member of the Finance Committee.

He is CEO of Dell UK. His career has spanned senior management roles in a number of major
companies including PriceWaterhouseCoopers, NCR and the BBC. Before taking up his UK role, he
worked in Singapore and Australia in a variety of senior positions at Dell.

He has roots in Wales and played for Newbridge as well as serving as captain of Cross Keys and
Monmouthshire U23s. He also represented Cardiff University, Welsh Universities and British Universities.

Bryn Parker

Joined the Board in 1 February 2016, represents District A and is a member of Regulatory Committee.

During a productive playing career, he played for Blaenavon, Pontypool, Talywain, Garndiffaith and
Croesyceiliog. He has also managed and coached Blaenavon, Talywain, Garndiffaith and Croesyceiliog.

He has been honorary secretary of Cwmbran since 2006 and team manager of Monmouthshire County
since 2004. 

He works as a youth mentor/co-ordinator to autistic children at a local school and was formerly a
senior technical process operator and training officer. He has also been a children’s mentor/co-ordinator
for Children in Need. 

He has been a community councillor for the past five years and was appointed chair in 2016. 

Anthony John

Re-joined the Board in 2012, represents District G and is a member of the Rugby Committee. 

He is also Vice President of the Llanelli and District Rugby Union, has served as a committee member
for Kidwelly for 30 years, fixture secretary for 10 years and is a trustee of the club.

He captained the Zambian national team while working in the region, and played for Loughor and
Kidwelly. He worked as a site manager for Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water for 33 years.

Alwyn Jones 

Joined the Board in 2012, represents District J and is a member of the Rugby Committee.

He is a member and former player, captain and secretary of Bangor. 

He represented North Wales as a player, and was Secretary of District J for 16 years. 

Alwyn spent his career working for HMRC. 
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Ian Jeffery

Joined the Board on 4 October 2015, represents District A and is a member of the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee and the Finance Committee.

He enjoyed a progressive career in the construction and private development sectors, holding positions
on the boards of three national house builders, recently returning to Barratt David Wilson Homes as a
divisional commercial director.

He started playing rugby at 11 years of age and commenced his senior rugby in Exeter, moving to the
Gloucester leagues before joining Usk in 2004, finally retiring from the game in 2011.

Whilst playing he also served on club committees for 24 years, joining the District A meetings in 2010
as a representative of Usk.

Chris Morgan 

Joined the Board in 2014, represents District D and is a member of the Finance Committee and the
Regulatory Committee. 

He played rugby for Glyncorrwg, Tonmawr and the Royal Marines, before moving into the coaching
environment where his main background is in strength and conditioning. He has worked in this field
at Premiership level with Swansea and Aberavon, spent three years in the regional set up with the
Ospreys senior squad and played a significant part in the management and coaching set up of the
Wales Deaf Rugby team which won the World Cup in New Zealand in 2002.

He is a former senior non commissioned officer in the Royal Marines with 18 years' experience, holding
some very high profile appointments during a distinguished career.

Aileen Richards 

Joined the Board in 2015 as a non-elected independent non-executive director, is chair of the
Appointments and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Finance Committee.

She was based in the USA as the Executive Vice President and Vice President of People and
Organisation for Mars Incorporated. She grew up outside Cardiff and holds a BSc Honours degree in
business studies. She spent her 30-year career at Mars working across the management structure in a
number of high profile roles in the UK, Belgium and the USA.

Now retired, she has returned to live in London. She has a declared passion for Welsh rugby and is a
debenture holder at Principality Stadium.

Phil Thomas

Joined the Board in 2015, represents District E and is a member of the Rugby Committee. 

From Clydach he is a former Wales Schools U16 international and played youth rugby for Morriston
before joining Vardre where he became club secretary, vice chairman and then chairman in 2012.  

He works for the City and County of Swansea.

Ray Wilton

Joined the Board in 1998, represents District C and is a member of the Regulatory Committee.

He is also a citing commissioner to Test match level. 

He has been a member of the Tylorstown committee for over 30 years and represented the club on
the Mid District Committee from 1971. He became chairman of the Mid District selectors.

He worked as a development engineer in the power industry and was also employed by Hoover for
over 30 years.

David Young

Joined the Board in 2014, represents District B, is chair of the Regulatory Committee and is a member
of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Rugby Committee.

He played for the youth and senior teams of Llandaff North and, following injury, joined the committee,
latterly as the rugby secretary, and was awarded life membership after 23 years of service. He is
currently a selector, vice chairman and competition secretary for East District.

He is a retired chartered electrical engineer and former design and construction manager for Cardiff
Council.

Company Secretary
Gareth Williams

He is the senior partner of Hugh James. 

He is a specialist in commercial litigation and in sports law. He was formerly a deputy judge and
chairman of the Wales Commercial Law Association.

He chairs the board of governors of the University of South Wales, having previously chaired the board
of directors of the Royal Welsh College of Music and Drama.

He is also a non-executive director of Thomas Carroll Group plc and a trustee of the Welsh Rugby
Charitable Trust.
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Martyn Phillips
Group Chief Executive

Appointed as Group Chief Executive in July 2015, he took up the post in the autumn of the same
year. He is a member of the Finance Committee.

He is a member of the Six Nations Council, a director of British Lions Designated Activity Company
and Celtic Rugby Designated Activity Company.

He was formerly CEO of B&Q and a non-executive director of Hydrogen Group plc. 

In 2013 he was awarded an Honorary Doctorate from Southampton Solent University for services to
business. He was educated at Fishguard Grammar School and UWIC in Cardiff before studying at both
Oxford Brookes College and then Templeton College, Oxford.

                                       Whilst at school he won Wales international caps at U15 level and was a member of the Welsh Schools
U18 squad before going on to represent Welsh Colleges.  

Geraint John
Head of Rugby Performance

Joined the Group in 2015 and was appointed Head of Rugby Performance in January 2016.

He had returned to Wales the previous September as the Group's Elite Coach Development Manager
after 10 years working abroad - with Rugby Canada as High Performance Manager and then Sevens
Head Coach before joining the Australian Rugby Union as Program Director of Sevens and Men's
Sevens Head Coach in June 2014. He is also a former Wales assistant coach, who has also coached at
Llanelli, Cardiff Metropolitan University and Cardiff Blues.

He previously played for Cardiff, Llanelli and featured at every representative schools level and went
on to play for Wales A.

Ryan Jones
Head of Rugby Participation 

Joined the Group in February 2016.

He won 75 caps, is a former Wales captain and a British and Irish Lion. He is one of an elite band of
players to have won three Grand Slams with Wales (2005, 2008 and 2012) and he also played an
integral role in his country's retention of the RBS 6 Nations title in 2013.

He also captained the Ospreys from 2007 to 2010 and counts four Guinness Pro12 titles amongst his
achievements. 

Mark Killingley

Head of Digital and Communications

Joined the Group in May 2016. 

He joined from the RFU where he was Head of Digital and Customer Relationship Management. In
that role, he oversaw the launch of the revamped, re-branded England Rugby website, plus a new
digital platform aimed at growing participation in the sport across England ahead of, during and after
the 2015 World Cup. 

Prior to joining the RFU, he was Marketing Director of the National Football League (“NFL”) where he
was responsible for all digital and marketing activity and award-winning events that have helped
establish the NFL in the UK to the point where they play multiple games and enjoy record TV audiences.

He played for Amersham & Chiltern, Leeds University and Buckinghamshire County.

Rhodri Lewis
Head of Legal Affairs

Joined the Group in 2010.  

He started his legal career at the international law firm Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer in London,
before joining the commercial legal department at UEFA (the European football governing body, based
in Switzerland) working predominantly on Champions League, Europa League and UEFA European
Football Championships matters.  

He left UEFA to become the Senior Solicitor at The FA Group and was responsible for a broad range
of legal matters in relation to both The Football Association (including in relation to the 2010 FIFA
World Cup) and Wembley Stadium.

He played rugby throughout his time at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf and has played rugby for Dinas
Powys, for teams in London, Thailand, Hong Kong, Australia and Switzerland and for the University
of London.

Craig Maxwell
Head of Group Sales and Marketing

Joined the Group as the Head of Group Sales and Marketing in 2010.

He joined from Under Armour where he had been the USA based sportswear company’s Head of
Sports Marketing in the UK and Ireland since 2008. Whilst at Under Armour, he worked on the launch
of the brand’s footwear and was integral in building the Under Armour brand across all sports in the
UK and Ireland.

He had previously worked for the Group between 2004 and 2008 in various roles within the hospitality
team before becoming Group Sponsorship Manager.

He played rugby for Greenhill Comprehensive School in Tenby and for Pembroke Dock, Narberth and
Tenby at the senior level.
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Julie Paterson
Head of Rugby Operations

Joined the Group in 1989 and was appointed Head of Rugby Operations in February 2016.

She had held the position of Head of Group Compliance since 2005 and previously served in a number
of areas across the business dealing directly with strategic and operation issues related to the
management of International, Regional and Club rugby.

Responsible for the management of the National Dual Contract system and administration of the
Rugby Services Agreement, her remit covers club support and operations teams, liaison with other
rugby governing bodies and other stakeholders, partners or associates such as the Welsh Government,
Sport Wales and local authorities. 

Steve Phillips
Group Finance Director

Joined the Group in 2007.

He joined from TBI which was one of the largest regional airport owners in the world and in his ten
years at the company he played active roles in the acquisition of airports in Belfast, Sweden, London
Luton, Bolivia, Costa Rica, Australia and North America.

He trained with KPMG and qualified as a chartered accountant in 1989. He was previously Finance
Director at the Tedcastle UK Group before joining TBI as Group Financial Controller and then Group
Finance Director.

He played rugby for Amman Valley Comprehensive School, Imperial College London, University of
London and Amman United, where he captained the first XV.

Mark Williams
Stadium Manager

Joined the Group in 2013.

He joined after a military career spanning 20 years during which he rose to the rank of Lieutenant
Colonel in The Royal Welsh. He served on multiple tours of duty in Northern Ireland, Bosnia, Kosovo
and Iraq and he was decorated for his actions in combat in Iraq in 2007.

During his military career he held some very high-profile military appointments in both training and
operational environments including time as a Battalion Adjutant, Company Commander and Battle
Group Chief of Staff with the 2nd Battalion, The Royal Welsh.

He played rugby for Neath College, Glynneath and his Regiment.

Trevor Lloyd
(1925 – 2015)

The former Maesteg and Wales scrum half, Trevor Lloyd was
the oldest living British & Irish Lion at the time of his recent
death aged 91. He toured South Africa with the Lions in 1955.

Raised in Taibach, he attended Eastern School and became a
blast furnaceman. He spent the majority of his playing career
at Maesteg RFC and was part of the 1949-50 “Invincibles”
side which did not lose a game all season. He also captained
the club five times from 1948 to 1951 and again later
between 1953 and 1956. 

He also served in the Royal Navy during WW2. He enjoyed a
successful playing career, representing British Steel Co,
Aberavon, Cwmavon and Bristol before ending his career at
Aberavon Quins. He also played for Glamorgan County.

He won two caps for Wales in 1953. Those performances in
wins over Ireland and France paved the way for his selection
for the 1955 Lions, when he was the only player over the age
of 30 to make the trip. Lloyd played six times for the Lions,
kicking four conversions against North-East Districts. 

Alan ‘Algy’ Thomas 
(1940 - 2015)

Algy Thomas was one of the stars of the Newport team of the
1960s, playing 213 games and scoring 42 tries. A rugged yet
mobile back row forward, his most famous hour came when
he made the try saving tackle at the end of the 1963 match
against New Zealand that allowed Newport to hang on for
their famous 3-0 win over the All Blacks at Rodney Parade. 

His performance in that match led to two caps for Wales – the
first against the All Blacks and then against England in the
1964 Five Nations Championship. 

He made his Newport debut against Penarth in 1961 and
became an ever-present in the side, featuring in all 44 games.
He played for Neath for one season and also appeared in the
colours of Tredegar, whom he captained, Ebbw Vale, Cross
Keys and Pontypool. 

Born in Beckenham, Kent he attended Alexander School,
Beckenham, before he was evacuated from London to
Fochriw in 1941. He then went to Bargoed Grammar and
Pontlottyn School. He also played for Wales U23, Western
Counties and Crawshay’s Welsh. A miner and then colliery
manager, he went on to coach Newport Saracens.

A keen active member of the Newport Former Players
Association, he was inducted into the Newport RFC Hall of
Fame.

Graham Powell
(1932- 2015)

Graham Powell, the first player to be capped from Ebbw Vale
RFC, died at the age of 84. He learned his rugby at Ebbw Vale
Grammar School and quickly graduated into the town team
at Eugene Cross Park. 

He helped the Steelmen to win the Welsh Championship for
the first time in 1951/52 and followed that up with further
success in 1953/54 and 1956/57. He captained Ebbw Vale in
1957/58 and also skippered the combined Abertillery & Ebbw
Vale XV that beat the touring Australians in 1958. He played
against Australia when he led the combined Abertillery and
Ebbw Vale team to a 6-5 triumph at Abertillery Park on 8
January 1958 and he scored more than 200 points in the
1958/59 season. 

He won his two caps in the 1957 Five Nations campaign.
Wales had lost their opening two matches of the season
against England and Scotland and he came into the side with
Cyril Davies to form a new centre pairing in place of Gareth
Griffiths and Malcolm Thomas.

His debut came against Ireland on 9 March, 1957, and the
Irish side arrived in Cardiff having beaten France and Scotland.
The two new Welsh caps in the centre found themselves
playing against the vastly experienced Irish captain, Noel
Henderson, and the brilliant Tony O'Reilly, but measured up
well to the task.  The ‘Big Five’ gave their winning team a vote
of confidence for the final game of the season, against France
at Stade Colombes. 

Born in Waunlwyd, Ebbw Vale, Powell was a talented all-
round sportsman. He played rugby for English Universities and
spent three years working as a physics teacher after leaving
university.  After that he moved into industry and had a highly
successful career. 

Terry Cook
(1927 – 2016)

Terry Cook, the former Pontypool and Cardiff wing who
became a dual-code international, died at the age of 88.

Born in Bedwas, he attended New Tredegar Technical College
and became an engineering draughtsman. He launched his
career at Pontypool and played for the combined Pontypool,
Taylwain and Blaenavon XV against the touring Australians at
Abertillery Park on 23 December 1947.  The Wallabies had
been beaten by Wales three days earlier and the tourists just
escaped with a 9-7 victory. 
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He joined Cardiff from Pontypool at the start of the 1948/49
season and made an immediate impact.  His Cardiff debut
came in an 11-10 win at Coventry on 4 September 1948, and
he marked his first home game at the Arms Park with a hat-
trick of tries in a 38-14 demolition of Devonport Services. He
scored nine tries in his first five games for the Blue & Blacks
and 24 in all in 27 games that season. He only ended on the
losing side on one occasion and went on to score a further 20
tries in the 1949/50 campaign to end his career at the Arms
Park with 44 tries in 71 matches.

Williams had scored two tries in the Welsh win over England
in Cardiff and Cook's next international was against Scotland
at Murrayfield on 5 February 1949.Welsh hopes of a possible
Triple Crown were thwarted by the Scots, who won 6-5, and
Cook ended up a loser in his second and final game for Wales.
This time it was against the Triple Crown chasing Irish at St
Helen's in a rugged contest that was won by the visitors 5-0.

Grahame Hodgson 
(1936 – 2016)

Grahame Hodgson, the former Neath captain and coach, died
at the age of 79. Grahame was born in Ogmore Vale and
learnt his rugby at Ogmore Vale Grammar School and made
his debut for Neath in the 1958/59 season while still a student
at St Luke's College, Exeter. He won 15 caps for Wales and
was in the side that won the Five Nations title in 1966.

An immaculate full back who was safe as houses in defence,
he scored more than 1,500 points in more than 400
appearances for Neath. His career at Neath saw him become
established as one of the club's greatest full backs and he was
made captain in 1964/65 and he took the club points record
in a season up to 237 in 1966/67. He also played for St Luke's
College, Devon County, Glamorgan County, Welsh
Academicals and the Barbarians.

He made his debut for Wales at Lansdowne Road on 17
November 1962 in the Five. He was one of four new caps and
distinguished himself by kicking a 50 yard penalty that led to
a 3-3 draw.  That was the start of a run of 11 successive
appearances in the No 15 jersey for Wales. His 15th and final
game for Wales came in the 3-0 defeat by Ireland at Cardiff
Arms Park on 11 March 1967. He won five, lost seven and

drew three of his games for Wales and kicked four penalties.

His teaching career began in the PE department at Heol Gam
Secondary Modern (now Brynteg Lower) and he became
deputy headteacher at Bryntirion Comprehensive before
retiring. He was also an active member of the Neath Former
Players Association and became chairman of the Welsh
Academicals.

Emlyn Davies 
(1922 – 2016)

The 94-year-old former Aberavon prop was the oldest
surviving Welsh international at the time of his death 

Born in Port Talbot in 1922, he learned his rugby at Maesteg
Grammar School and went on to play for Cwmavon, Cymmer
and Glyncorrwg before joining Aberavon. He played as a
second row for Cwmavon, outside half for Glyncorrwg before
moving to prop when he joined the Wizards.

He started his working life as an office boy at the Port Talbot
Steelworks before he joined British Rail. He served in the Home
Guard during WW2.

He made brief appearances for Swansea and Maesteg, played
more than 50 times for Glamorgan County, represented
Crawshay's Welsh and won the first of his two Wales caps
against the touring Australians at Cardiff Arms Park on 20
December, 1947.

One of four new caps that day, Davies helped Wales win a
dull, forward orientated affair 6-0. Victory allowed Davies to
avenge the 19-9 defeat the Wallabies had handed out to the
Combined Aberavon and Neath side suffered at The Gnoll two
months earlier. His second cap came in the final game of the
1948 Five Nations championship against Ireland in Belfast. It
was a Grand Slam occasion for the Irish as they completed a
clean-sweep for the first time with a 6-3 victory by two tries
to one.

Davies captained Aberavon in the 1949/50 season and
finished his career back at Glyncorrwg before joining the club
committee in 1955. His wife and adopted son pre-deceased
him and he lived out his later years at the Arwelfa Nursing
Home, Croeserw, Cymmer.
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